

LUND UNIVERSITY

Towards carbon neutrality: decarbonizing China's steel and petrochemical industries

Pathways and policies

Li, Zhenxi

2025

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Li, Z. (2025). *Towards carbon neutrality: decarbonizing China's steel and petrochemical industries: Pathways and policies.* [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Environmental and Energy Systems Studies]. Department of Technology and Society, Lund University.

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Towards carbon neutrality: decarbonizing China's steel and petrochemical industries

Pathways and policies

ZHENXI LI

TECHNOLOGY AND SOCIETY | FACULTY OF ENGINEERING | LUND UNIVERSITY

Towards carbon neutrality: decarbonizing China's steel and petrochemical industries—— Pathways and policies

Towards carbon neutrality: decarbonizing China's steel and petrochemical industries

Pathways and policies

Zhenxi Li



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

Doctoral dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) at the Faculty of Engineering at Lund University to be publicly defended on 23rd of May at 9.00am in lecture hall V:A in V-building, John Ericssons väg 1, Lund

Faculty opponent: Dr Maria Grahn, Chalmers University of Technology

Organization: LUND UNIVERSITY

Document name: Doctoral Dissertation

Date of issue:23-05-2025

Author(s): Zhenxi Li

Sponsoring organization: China Scholarship Council; Department of Technology and Society; Swedish Energy Agency

Title and subtitle: Towards carbon neutrality: decarbonizing China's steel and petrochemical industries—Pathways and policies

Abstract:

Tackling climate change is one of the most pressing challenges of our time. Among the various sectors contributing to global greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, the industrial sector plays a pivotal role, responsible for 24% of total GHG emissions. As the world's largest emitter of CO_2 , China has committed to peaking emissions by 2030 and achieving carbon neutrality by 2060. The industrial sector in China accounts for 36% of China's direct emissions and around 56-60% when indirect emissions are included. In other words, the direct CO_2 emission from China's industry is responsible for approximately 12% of global emissions. Therefore, the decarbonization of China's industrial sector is not only crucial for achieving its own carbon neutrality target but also holds significant implications for global climate governance. However, reaching these targets is particularly challenging for energy-intensive industries such as steel and petrochemicals, due to the technological, economic and political barriers.

This thesis explores how China's steel and petrochemical industries can transition to a carbon-neutral future. It investigates potential technological pathways for achieving deep decarbonization in these sectors and examines the role of policy in facilitating this transformation. Using optimization models, the research identifies potential decarbonization pathways while accounting for economic, social, and geopolitical factors that may influence their adoption. Furthermore, the thesis evaluates the adequacy of China's current green industrial policies in supporting decarbonization in the steel and petrochemical sectors.

Key findings highlight that while technological solutions exist to help China achieve its carbon neutrality goals, deep decarbonization will require significant investments in technology, industrial infrastructure, and robust policy support. Regional disparities, governance structures, and geopolitical factors add further complexity to this transition. The steel and petrochemical industries face distinct challenges, ranging from differences in technological maturity to varying levels of value chain complexity and future demand projections, which will influence their respective decarbonization roadmaps. Overall, the steel industry is expected to achieve faster progress toward decarbonization compared to the petrochemical industry.

Key words: China, steel, petrochemical, carbon neutrality, energy-intensive industry, pathways

Language: English

Number of pages:171

ISSN: 1102-3651 **ISRN:** LUTFD2/TFEM--25/1050--SE + (1- 171)

ISBN: 978-91-8104-459-1 (print); 978-91-8104-460-7 (electronic)

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

Date: 2025-04-08

Towards carbon neutrality: decarbonizing China's steel and petrochemical industries

Pathways and policies

Zhenxi Li



Cover photo by Viktor Mácha (viktormacha.com), named "SIDEX Galati - blast furnace twilight".

This image symbolizes the twilight of carbon-intensive industry and the author's hope for a transition toward a low-carbon future.

Copyright pp 1-171 Zhenxi Li

Thesis summary $\ensuremath{\textcircled{O}}$ Zhenxi Li. The language of thesis summary has been polished with the assistance of ChatGPT.

Paper 1 © the authors. Published by Elsevier

Paper 2 © the authors. Published by Elsevier

Paper 3 © the authors. Published by Elsevier

Paper 4 © the authors (Manuscript unpublished)

Faculty of Engineering

Division of Environmental and Energy Systems Studies

ISBN 978-91-8104-459-1 (print) ISBN 978-91-8104-460-7 (electronic) ISSN 1102-3651

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2025



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se

To my family

Table of Contents

	Popular Summary	11
	List of Papers	12
	Author contributions	12
	Other relevant publications	13
	Acknowledgement	14
	Abbreviations	17
1.	Introduction	19
2.	Contextualizing China's steel and petrochemical industry	23
	2.1 Decarbonizing China's steel industry	23
	2.1.1 Background of China' steel industry: production and CO ₂	
	emissions	
	2.1.2 Strategies for reducing CO₂ emissions in the steel industry2.1.3 Decarbonization policies in the steel industry	
	2.2 Decarbonizing China's petrochemical industry	
	2.2.1 Background of China' petrochemical industry: production an	
	CO_2 emissions	28
	industry	. 31
	2.2.3 Decarbonization policy in the petrochemical industry	
3.	Methodology	33
	3.1 Optimization model in energy and industrial system	
	3.2 Scenarios analysis	
	3.3 Policy analysis	37
4.	Results and methodological reflection	39
	4.1 Steel decarbonization (Paper I, III and IV)	
	4.2 Petrochemical decarbonization (Paper II and IV)	44
	4.3 Comparisons between steel and petrochemical industries	
	4.4 Methodological reflection	
	4.4.1 From quantitative to qualitative analysis	
	4.4.2 Transparency and robustness	52

5.	Discussion	55
6.	Conclusions	59
Refer	ences	61

Popular Summary

Tackling climate change is one of the most pressing challenges of our time. Among the various sectors contributing to global greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, the industrial sector plays a pivotal role, responsible for 24% of total GHG emissions. This proportion rises to 34% when including indirect emissions. As the world's largest emitter of CO₂, China has committed to peaking emissions by 2030 and achieving carbon neutrality by 2060. The industrial sector in China accounts for 36% of China's direct emissions and 56-60% when indirect emissions are included. In other words, the direct CO₂ emission from China's industry is responsible for approximately 12% of global emissions. Therefore, the decarbonization of China's industrial sector is not only crucial for achieving its own carbon neutrality target but also holds significant implications for global climate governance. However, reaching these targets is particularly challenging for energy-intensive industries such as steel and petrochemicals, due to the technological, economic and political barriers.

The focus of this thesis is on exploring how China's steel and petrochemical industries can transition to a carbon-neutral future. This study investigates the potential technological pathways for achieving deep decarbonization in these sectors and examines the role of policy in facilitating this transformation. By employing optimization models, this research aims to identify potential technological pathways for these industries, considering economic, social, and geopolitical factors that may affect their adoption and implementation. In addition to examining technological pathways, this thesis also assesses the adequacy of China's current green industrial policies for the steel and petrochemical sectors.

Key findings emphasize that while technological solutions are available to help China achieve its carbon neutrality target, deep decarbonization requires substantial investments in technology, industrial infrastructure, and strong policy support. Regional disparities, governance structures, and geopolitical factors add complexity to the transition. Moreover, the steel and petrochemical industries face distinct challenges in their journeys to decarbonization, such as technological maturity, product as well as value chain complexity, and future demand, which will influence their respective decarbonization roadmaps. Overall, the steel industry is expected to progress more rapidly than the petrochemical industry.

This research provides insights into how China's steel and petrochemical sectors can align with global climate goals and achieve carbon neutrality by 2060. The findings are valuable not only to Chinese policymakers but also to businesses, international stakeholders, and researchers involved in industrial transformation for global climate targets. This thesis contributes to the discourse on industrial decarbonization, offering a comprehensive analysis of the pathways, policies, and challenges shaping China's industrial future and its role in global climate efforts.

List of Papers

Paper I

Li, Z., Andersson, F. N., Nilsson, L. J., & Åhman, M. (2023). Steel decarbonization in China–a top-down optimization model for exploring the first steps. Journal of Cleaner Production, 384, 135550. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2022.135550

Paper II

Li, Z., Åhman, M., Nilsson, L. J., & Bauer, F. (2024). Towards carbon neutrality: Transition pathways for the Chinese ethylene industry. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 199, 114540. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2024.114540</u>

Paper III

Li, Z., Åhman, M., Algers, J., & Nilsson, L. J. (2025). Decarbonizing the Asian steel industries through green Hot Briquetted Iron trade. Resources, Conservation and Recycling, 219, 108275. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2025.108275

Paper IV

Li, Z., Åhman, M., Lin, L., Zhang, J., Nilsson, L. J., Lu, H., & Algers, J. Assessing China's green industrial policy: the decarbonization of steel and petrochemical industries [Manuscript]

Author contributions

I am the lead author of all four papers in this thesis, having been involved in every stage of the research process. For *Papers I* to *IV*, I led the conceptualization of the research questions and the design of the overall approach. In the first three papers, I independently conducted the modelling work, performed detailed analyses, synthesized the results, and wrote the drafts of the papers. In *Paper IV*, I contributed significantly to conceptualizing the research, framing the analysis, and was responsible for data analysis and interpretation. I also played a key role in drafting the paper.

Other relevant publications

During my PhD, other related studies were either published or in progress.

Academic papers

Bilici, S., Holtz, G., Jülich, A., König, R., Li, Z., Trollip, H., ... & Meurer, A. (2024). Global trade of green iron as a game changer for a near-zero global steel industry?-A scenario-based assessment of regionalized impacts. Energy and Climate Change, 5, 100161. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.egycc.2024.100161</u>

Johnson, C., Åhman, M., Nilsson., L. & Li., Z. Emerging green steel markets surrounding the EU Emissions Trading System and Carbon Border Adjustment Mechanism [Under review]

Otto, S., Tönjes, A., Peterson, L., Trollip, H., & Vishwanathan, S., Li, Z., Policy frameworks for the decarbonisation of energy-intensive industries: are they fit for purpose? [Manuscript]

Peng, W. et al. Environmental sustainability and decarbonization strategies of global steel industry. [Manuscript]

Acknowledgement

A few years ago, Sweden was a distant and unfamiliar country to me. I never imagined that one day I would study here and earn a PhD. Even now, as I approach the completion of my doctoral journey, it still feels somewhat surreal. While this acknowledgment is meant for my PhD, these four years have been far more than just a degree or the knowledge I have gained—they have been a unique life experience filled with a mix of emotions. Throughout this journey, I have often felt incredibly fortunate to have encountered so many kind and supportive people. I am grateful to everyone who has been part of this experience, whether it was someone I saw every day or just a brief encounter.

First, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my two supervisors from IMES, Lars J. Nilsson and Max Åhman. Without Lars, I might never have had the opportunity to experience world-class academic education in Sweden, and without Max, I might never have been able to complete my PhD. Their unwavering support and encouragement have helped me navigate moments of doubt and exhaustion, offering me both calm and courage. Beyond knowledge, I have learned invaluable qualities from them: humility, humor, optimism, and unwavering support. No words can fully express my gratitude, but I can say with certainty that they are the best supervisors in the world. I am also grateful to my co-supervisor Fredrik N. G. Andersson from the Department of Economics, whose unique perspectives have brought great value and enjoyment to our research. A big thank to Stefan Lechtenböhmer for his encouragement during my first ECEEE conference, his support during my mid-term seminar, and the many insightful discussions on career planning.

I would like to extend special thanks to two people who have been incredibly important to me in the department, Nelly and Chunli. They have been both friends and life mentors. I feel very fortunate to have had their continuous support and encouragement throughout my PhD journey. Nelly, thank you for the countless lunch talks, your help, and encouragement, all of which meant a lot to me. Chunli, I am grateful for every piece of advice you've given me and for your insights into both my career and life.

It has been an honor to be part of the PhD group. I would like to particularly thank Eugène for his patience and constant support, as well as for his advice that enabled me to share an office with the other PhD students. I am deeply grateful for the moments I shared with Eugène, Christina, Felix, and Yuru, who sat in the same office with me, sharing their lives, experiences, and feelings. Their companionship has made my PhD journey much more enjoyable and has alleviated feelings of loneliness. I would also like to extend my gratitude to Jonas, an important collaborator in my steel research, for his contributions to our joint papers, participation in courses, and continuous support. I also appreciate Lovisa and Oscar for their companionship and support during the writing seminars. I am also thankful to Johanna and Hannes for their patience in explaining things to me—your help has meant a lot to me. Finally, I would like to thank the PhD fellows who graduated before me, as they set such great examples: Valentin, Malin, Ellen, Joachim, and Jens.

It has been a privilege to be part of the Steel group, and I deeply admire their efforts to promote fossil-free steel. I am grateful for their support, especially from Max, Lars, Jonas, Valentin, Jindan, Björn, Clemens, and Stefan. I would also like to thank my IMES colleagues—Karin, Alexandra, Lotta, Katya, Per, Lovisa Björnsson, and Mikael—for their kindness, encouragement, and support. My appreciation extends to Joakim Haraldsson for the jokes and to Jamil and André for their excellent courses. I also wish to thank Fredric, Mariko, Pål, Bengt, and Eva for their help. Special thanks to our wonderful administrators: Astrid, Ina, Petra, and Helena, for their invaluable assistance. I also had the valuable opportunity for a short exchange at the Berkeley Lab, and I would like to express my gratitude to the colleagues there: Jingjing Zhang, Nan Zhou, Bo Shen, Curtis, Hongyou, and Yiqun Pan, for their help and valuable advice on my research.

I would also like to thank my co-authors, who have provided motivation, and offered great ideas: Süheyb, Lixue, Simon, Max, Fredric, Fredrik, Lars, Jingjing, Hongyou, Constantin, Peng and Yilong. I am also grateful to two of the master's students I supervised, Danhak, who showed me wisdom in facing life, and Constantin, who helped a lot with my terrible English and can now understand my misspelled words and rambling English, just like ChatGPT!

Throughout this PhD journey, I've had countless moments of anxiety and panic, most of which, in the end, turned out to be unnecessary. I am thus deeply grateful to my friends for their support and for all the fun times we shared. Thanks to my roommate, Yanmei He, who was the first person I met in Sweden and my longeststanding friend here. She has provided me with help and emotional comfort. I would also like to thank Jingyou Zhang and Menghan Chen, who explored Lund with me at different times. We spent countless weekends together, exploring shops, trying new foods, and offering each other encouragement and help. I'm thankful for Liang Zhao and our countless chitchats; every conversation with her fills me with hope for life. Thanks to all the visiting PhD students I met-Mengtian Xue, Xin Guo, and Oifan Xia—with whom I spent wonderful times in the V building and had many chats. Also, thanks to Chunli and her family: Peter and Jingyi, and younger friends Wenlu Zhang and Xinyue Wang, who gave me fresh courage to face the unknown. I'm grateful for every friend I met at different stages in Sweden and for the fun times spent with them: Nan Zhu, Yanli Miao, Jiang Lv, Zhengda Guo, Xiaofei Tong, Bangjuan Wang, Haijin Guo, and Xinyi Zhang. While meeting new friends is always exciting, the companionship of old friends is even more precious. I am grateful to Xing Hu, Shuangshuang Zhou, and Yali Zheng, who were there to complain about how hard PhD life is with me and provided much-needed

companionship. Thanks to Yang Liu, Huisha Zhang and Li Sun for their greetings and valuable advice. A special thank you to my favorite singer JJ Lin, whose songs have given me endless motivation, courage, and helped me overcome loneliness.

Last but certainly not least, I want to thank my family. No matter where I am or what I am doing, my parents and sister have always supported me. Their love and encouragement have been the source of my motivation to keep moving forward. Whenever I needed guidance or comfort, I could always rely on them. Without their unwavering trust and support, I would not have come this far. Every achievement, every success, is not only mine but also theirs. This is also their thesis.

Abbreviations

Blast Furnace-Basic Oxygen Furnace
Carbon Border Adjustment Mechanism
Carbon Capture, Utilization, and Storage
Direct reduced iron
Electric Arc Furnace
Energy-intensive industries
Energy System Optimization Modelling
Fischer-Tropsch synthesis
Greenhouse gas
Hot Briquetted Iron
Million tonnes
Methanol-to-olefins
State-owned enterprises

1. Introduction

Combating climate change is an urgent global priority, requiring coordinated efforts across nations, industries, and policy frameworks. The Paris Agreement, adopted in 2015 and signed by 194 parties, sets a legally binding framework to limit global warming to well below 2°C above pre-industrial levels, with an aspirational goal of 1.5°C [1]. This agreement has driven many countries to establish carbon neutrality targets as part of their long-term climate strategies. For instance, Sweden announced its goal of achieving carbon neutrality by 2045 in 2017, while New Zealand and France committed to reaching net-zero emissions by 2050 in 2019.

China, the world's largest CO_2 emitter, contributing approximately one-third of global annual emissions in 2023 [2], plays a crucial role in achieving international climate goals. In September 2020, China pledged to peak CO₂ emissions by 2030 and achieve carbon neutrality by 2060. This commitment has garnered significant attention. Achieving this carbon neutrality goal requires deep decarbonization¹ across all sectors. In China, the power and industrial sectors are the largest CO₂ emitters, accounting for 48% and 36% of national emissions, respectively, followed by transport (8%) and buildings (5%) [3]. However, when indirect emissions are included, the industrial sector becomes the largest single contributor, responsible for 56-60% of China's CO_2 emissions [4, 5]. These figures are significantly higher than the global average, where direct industrial greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions account for 24% of total GHG emissions, rising to 34% when indirect emissions are included in 2019 [6]. In other words, China's direct industrial sector is responsible for approximately 12% of global CO₂ emissions in 2023[3, 7]². Consequently, China's industrial decarbonization has profound implications, both domestically in terms of achieving carbon neutrality and internationally for the success of climate governance and the Paris Agreement.

Energy-intensive industries (EIIs) producing basic materials like steel, cement, and petrochemicals account for 60-80% of industrial emissions [8] and approximately 22% of global CO_2 emissions [9]. In addition, CO_2 emissions from these sectors continue to increase due to rising demand driven by economic development and the

¹ Deep decarbonization here refers to reducing emissions as close to zero as possible.

² China's carbon emissions in 2023 totalled 12.6 Gt. Given that the industrial sector accounts for 36% of China's direct emissions, it contributed 4.536Gt of CO₂. With global emissions reaching 37.4 Gt in 2023, China's industrial sector is responsible for approximately 12% of global CO₂ emissions.

absence of effective global climate policies [10]. EIIs are often considered "hard-to-abate" due to their strong "lock-in" in fossil fuels. This "lock-in" stems from technical, economic, and institutional pathway dependencies[10].

Decarbonizing China's EIIs presents particularly significant challenges. **First**, the scale and complexity of China's geography and governance pose significant hurdles for nationwide decarbonization. The extensive territory results in regional disparities, leading to varying decarbonization potential and challenges across different regions. In terms of governance, although China is often viewed internationally as a centralized state controlled by the Communist Party, its 34 provinces have considerable autonomy, which results in governance variations that complicate climate governance. Second, China's coal-based energy system (58% coal-derived electricity [11]) hinders the scaling up of electrification (or more specifically, green hydrogen), a key route to deep industrial decarbonization. The reliance on coal may delay the widespread and cost-effective production of green hydrogen. Third, China has a substantial amount of relatively young, carbonintensive industrial capacity. Phasing out the existing capacity in favor of lowcarbon alternatives or retrofitting it with Carbon Capture, Utilization, and Storage (CCUS) would incur substantial costs and stranded capital. These elements present major obstacles to achieving carbon neutrality in China's EIIs.

Over the past two to three decades, growth has undoubtedly been the defining feature of China's industry. After joining the World Trade Organization in 2001, China's GDP experienced explosive growth, accompanied by a rapid expansion of its industrial sector. The industrial added value surged from 4.39 trillion Yuan in 2001 to 39.91 trillion Yuan in 2023, marking a ninefold increase [12]. During this period, China moved from the peripheral of the global industrial system to a central position, becoming the world's largest producer in key sectors like steel, chemicals, and cement. In addition, its role in the global value chain grew significantly, earning it the title of the "world's factory". However, this rapid industrial growth, characterized by high energy consumption and carbon emissions, has resulted in significant environmental and climate challenges, with China surpassing the United States in 2006 to become the world's largest GHG emitter [13]. With the adoption of the Paris Agreement and its carbon neutrality goal, green development and a lowcarbon economy are becoming central to China's future development agenda. This shift presents both unprecedented pressures and new opportunities for industrial transformation. However, whether a "low-carbon" or even "zero-carbon" industrial sector can become a reality in China over the next 20-30 years remains uncertain.

Building on the above context, investigating the deep decarbonization of China's EIIs is of critical important. Such deep decarbonization is a systemic shift and a broader sociotechnical transition that entails changes in industry strategies, policy, user behavior, and infrastructure [14], and requires comprehensive and coordinating green industrial policies to help industries to overcome these multiple and complex barriers [8, 15, 16]. As industrial decarbonization is a relatively nascent field, with

less than a decade of focused global attention and less than five years since China's carbon neutrality announcement, developing pathways represents a crucial first step. These pathways offer a means of engaging with the future. By outlining various development pathways, we can not only envision potential futures but also analyze the challenges and obstacles that may arise in different contexts. This foresight enables proactive action in the present, informing policy formulation and concerted efforts. Furthermore, these pathways can provide a platform for the business community to consider the necessary policy supports for such a transition [10].

Thus, this thesis explores the potential decarbonization pathways and green industrial policies in China's industrial sector, using the steel and petrochemical industries as case studies. These sectors are key EIIs with some similarities. Both sectors share the need to develop several key future technology systems, such as green hydrogen, direct electrification, and CCUS, for deep decarbonization [17]. However, the sectors differ in raw material, product complexity and future demand trends. The steel industry, with a saturated or declining demand in China [18], relies on scrap or iron ore and produces primarily crude steel. In contrast, the petrochemical industry, where demand is expected to grow in the coming decades [19], relies on seven main feedstock chemicals derived from fossil feedstock to produce tens of thousands of derivative products [9]. The sectors also differ in Scope 3 emissions. For example, post-consumption plastic waste incineration significantly contributes to Scope 3 emissions [20], whereas steel is primarily recycled, resulting in minimal CO₂ emissions. These similarities and differences between the two sectors may lead to corresponding similarities and differences in their decarbonization pathways and associated policies.

Based on the above, this thesis addresses three core research questions:

- 1) What are the potential decarbonization pathways for China's steel and petrochemical industries to achieve carbon neutrality by 2060 (Q1)?
- 2) What challenges and obstacles can be anticipated in the transition of these industries towards carbon neutrality (Q2)?
- 3) Considering the complex interplay of regional disparities, economic, technological, and social dimensions, what policy insights can be derived from analyzing these decarbonization pathways and their associated challenges (Q3)?

These three questions not only allow us to look towards the future (Q1 and Q2) but also help take us back to the present (Q3), enabling us to start making efforts from now to achieve the carbon neutrality goals. The three questions are independent yet interconnected, and thus each of our papers addresses and explains all of them to varying degrees. The framework of the four papers in thesis is shown in **Fig.1**. This thesis is divided into two parts: an analysis of the steel industry and an analysis of the petrochemical industry. *Papers I* and *III* utilize optimization models to outline potential short-term (*Paper I*) and long-term (*Paper III*) decarbonization pathways

for China's steel industry under a carbon neutrality constraint (Q1). By establishing scenarios with varying policy objectives, I examine the impacts of different policies on economic costs, decarbonization pathways, and social factors such as employment, and geopolitical challenges (Q2). *Paper II* focuses on the ethylene industry, a key sub-sector of the petrochemical industry. I use an optimization model to explore potential long-term decarbonization pathways (Q1) and analyze potential challenges in achieving carbon neutrality (Q2). These three studies provide a window into potential challenges and required policy support for decarbonization. Finally, *Paper IV* adopts a policy analysis approach to assess the challenges and gaps in China's current net-zero industrial policy for achieving the 2060 target (Q2) and to inform the design of future industrial policies aligned with carbon neutrality goals (Q3).

Chapter 1 introduces the research problem and outlines the thesis framework. **Chapter 2** provides an overview of China's steel and petrochemical industries, covering production, carbon emissions, and key policies and mitigation technologies, while also examining the impact of regional differences on decarbonization. **Chapter 3** presents the methodology, detailing the use of optimization models, scenario analysis, and policy analysis. **Chapter 4** presents the results, including key findings and reflections on the methodology. **Chapter 5** is a discussion of the results and **Chapter 6** concludes the thesis by summarizing the main insights.



Figure 1. Thesis framework

2. Contextualizing China's steel and petrochemical industry

This chapter provides background information on the steel and petrochemical industries in China. Section 2.1 examines the steel industry, offering insights into steel production, carbon reduction methods, and relevant decarbonization policies. Section 2.2 then shifts focus to the petrochemical industry, presenting an overview of production, approaches to decarbonization, and relevant policies.

2.1 Decarbonizing China's steel industry

2.1.1 Background of China' steel industry: production and CO₂ emissions

China has been the world's largest steel producer and consumer since 1996 [21]. Following its World Trade Organization accession in 2001, China's steel production expanded rapidly. In 2023, the nation's crude steel output reached 1,019 million tonnes (Mt), representing 54% of global production [18]. The vast majority of this steel was consumed domestically; only 8% (83 Mt net exports in 2023) was exported [18]. Steel production is geographically concentrated. In 2021, the top five producing provinces—Hebei (225 Mt, 22% of national production), Jiangsu (119 Mt, 11%), Shandong (76 Mt, 7%), Liaoning (75 Mt, 7%), and Shanxi (67 Mt, 7%)—accounted for 54% of the national total [22]. See **Figure 2** for details.

This substantial steel production generates significant CO_2 emissions, accounting for approximately 15% of China's national total [23], considerably higher than the global average of 7% [24]. Steel is produced mainly through two routes: primary and secondary steelmaking. The dominant primary steelmaking process is the Blast Furnace-Basic Oxygen Furnace (BF-BOF) route. In this route, iron ore is reduced to hot metal in a BF, which is subsequently transferred to a BOF for crude steel production. Since coking coal serves as the reducing agent in the BF, this route is carbon-intensive, with carbon intensity of approximately 2.1 tonnes CO_2 per tonne steel in China [25]. Another common method is the scrap-based Electric Arc Furnace (EAF), which utilizes EAF to melt preheated scrap. This process has a

lower carbon intensity of approximately 1.3 tonnes of CO_2 per tonne of steel produced in China (scope 1 and 2 emissions) [25]. Currently, about 90% of China's steel is produced via the BF-BOF route, with the remaining 10% from scrap-based EAF technology [23]. This EAF production share in China is significantly lower than the global average of 29% [18]. Limited scrap availability, inadequate recycling infrastructure, and high scrap and electricity prices hinder EAF expansion in China [23]. Although China's steel scrap consumption reached 214 million tons in 2023, the majority (72%) was used in the BF-BOF route, with only 28% in EAFs [26]. This utilization pattern contrasts with other countries where scrap steel is primarily used in EAFs. A possible reason for this phenomenon is the overall lower costs of the BF-BOF process compared to scrap-based EAF production [26]. As a result, BF-BOF enterprises are incentivized to increase production by adding more scrap steel during profitable periods. Given that China began large-scale steel production and consumption in the late 19th and early 20th centuries and considering the typical lifespan of steel products (20–30 years). China's steel scrap supply is expected to grow significantly around 2030 [23]. This development could potentially drive the expansion of EAF-based steel production in China.



b) Provincial steel production in 2021(Mt)

Figure 2. Steel production National and provincial Steel Production

2.1.2 Strategies for reducing CO₂ emissions in the steel industry

Several approaches can be used to decarbonize the steel industry. The scrap-EAF route can achieve near-zero emissions if the EAF is powered by renewable electricity. However, scrap availability is limited and may not fully meet steel production demand, necessitating continued primary steel production. For decarbonizing primary steel, retrofitting existing BF-BOF capacity with CCS is a promising approach, especially given that the average age of BF furnaces in China is around 15 years [3]. A blast furnace is typically designed to operate for at least 25 years, with many remaining operational for over 40 years [27]. Implementing CCS could mitigate the potential stranded asset risks associated with early phaseouts. However, the steel industry has multiple emission sources with relatively low concentrations, making high carbon capture rate both challenging and costly. While CO_2 concentration in blast furnace gas is higher than in other processes like converters, making it a priority for capture, carbon capture in the metallurgical industry remains a high-cost technology [28].

The most promising method for decarbonizing the steel industry involves using a shaft furnace, where green hydrogen serves as the reducing agent to replace traditional blast furnaces. The direct reduced iron (DRI) produced in the shaft furnace is then transferred to an EAF. Over forty projects are in development, particularly in Europe and North America [29]. China is also pursuing similar green projects, led by major state-owned enterprises (SOEs) such as HBIS and Baowu, (details see *Paper III*). However, cost-effective and easily accessible green hydrogen remains a significant barrier to the development of DRI-EAF. Despite China's significant renewable energy potential in regions like the "Three-North areas" (North, Northeast, and Northwest), the distribution of renewable resources does not fully align with the locations of steel production. As a result, accessing large quantities of low-cost hydrogen is challenging due to the costs associated with hydrogen storage and transportation.

Reconfiguring the value chain of the steel industry could be an effective solution to overcome the barrier of green hydrogen and accelerate the transition to a renewablebased steel industry. One approach involves importing green Hot Briquetted Iron (HBI)—iron ore reduced to iron with renewable hydrogen—from countries rich in renewable resources. This HBI can then be used in domestic EAF to produce steel. While green HBI trading has not yet been fully implemented, it is gaining increasing attention, and several projects are underway [30]. For instance, Baowu has expressed interest in cooperating with potential HBI exporters, including those from Australia, South America, the Middle East, and Africa [31].

2.1.3 Decarbonization policies in the steel industry

Following the announcement of China's 2060 carbon neutrality target, the government established decarbonization targets for various sectors. The steel industry's policy target is to peak emissions before 2030 [32]; however, a sector-specific carbon neutrality target for 2060 is currently absent. Despite an initial signal in 2021 suggesting a 2025 peak in the steel industry [23], the final policy reflects a less ambitious timeline. This delay allows the sector breathing room amidst energy and supply chain security concerns and consolidates a more achievable target for all companies, addressing industry concerns like overcapacity and pollution [33]. Despite the weakened national ambition, some major companies, such as Baowu and HBIS, have adopted more ambitious goals for carbon peaking and neutrality [23], as detailed in *Paper IV*.

China's current decarbonization policies primarily focus on short-term goals for 2025, including increasing the share of EAF steel production to 15%, enhancing scrap recycling, reducing energy consumption, and restricting new production capacity (see *Paper IV*). Overcapacity has been a persistent issue in the Chinese steel industry. To address uncontrolled production expansion, the government introduced a "swap policy" in 2015, later revised and strengthened in 2017 and 2021. This policy required provinces adding new BF-BOF capacity to phase out 1.25 to 1.5 times the equivalent existing capacity. New green capacity, such as EAF or hydrogen-based metallurgy, required an equivalent amount of old capacity to be retired. However, in August 2024, the government suspended this policy and prohibited any new capacity additions³. This suspension stems from provincial governments prioritizing regional interests and failing to enforce the capacity swap policy, exacerbating overcapacity in BF-BOF production.

The failure to implement the swap policy exemplifies the multi-level governance challenges faced by the Chinese government. While the international community might perceive China's one-party system as conducive to streamlined governance, the reality is far more nuanced. China's governance operates through a top-down, target-based responsibility system: the central government sets targets that are then cascaded down to provincial and lower-level governments for implementation. However, implementation at the regional level can be problematic due to the significant autonomy and distinct agendas of provincial authorities [34]. Climate policy implementation faces several obstacles. First, local legislation, often influenced by regional protectionism, can conflict with central government regulations [35]. Local governments may thus prioritize local regulations over central directives. Second, local leaders' political advancement is often tied to local economic growth [36], incentivizing them to disregard central policies that could hinder economic progress. Finally, limited budgets force provincial governments to

³ As of the time of writing this thesis, no new actions have been taken by the central government.

prioritize policy implementation, often relegating climate goals to a lower priority. Provincial performance evaluations, based on the performance of lower-level governments, can incentivize collusion between different levels of government [37].

2.2 Decarbonizing China's petrochemical industry

2.2.1 Background of China' petrochemical industry: production and CO₂ emissions

Petrochemicals are a subset of industrial chemicals, as reflected in the full designation of the sector producing them: the "chemical and petrochemical sector". In this thesis, petrochemicals are defined as chemicals derived from petroleum (oil), natural gas, or coal. The petrochemical industry produces tens of thousands of derivative chemicals [9], but seven primary chemicals ⁴ are essential building blocks. Their production accounts for nearly two-thirds of the sector's total energy demand [38]. The global petrochemical industry is both energy-intensive and high-emission. In 2020, it emitted 1.8 Gt of direct CO₂ equivalents (scope 1) and 3.8 Gt of indirect CO₂eq emissions (scopes 2 and 3), together representing approximately 10% of global GHG emissions [20].

China is the world's largest producer and consumer of petrochemicals [39], leading in the output of ammonia[40], methanol[41], and ethylene [42]. In 2021, it accounted for 43% of global petrochemical production [43], contributing to 47% of the sector's global GHG emissions in 2020 [44]. The petrochemical industry is also responsible for approximately 12% of China's national CO₂ emissions [20].

In addition to the emissions driven by its massive production, the substantial emissions from the petrochemical sector are largely attributed to the significant role of China's coal-chemical industry, which accounted for 5.4% of the nation's total emissions in 2020 [45]. Although oil and natural gas are common feedstocks in the petrochemical industry worldwide, China's petrochemical industry is characterized by its reliance on coal-based feedstocks. Methanol and ammonia are largely produced from coal in China, while gas-based production dominates elsewhere [46]. China produced 83Mt methanol in 2023, with 84% of the production being coal based, 10% from coke-oven-gas and 5% from natural gas [47]. It also had 78Mt ammonia capacity in 2023, with 79% coal-based capacity and 16% natural-gas-based capacity [48]. This situation is similar for light olefin. Naphtha and ethane are the principal feedstocks used to make light olefins, but it can also be produced from methanol using the methanol-to-olefins (MTO) process which is done only in

⁴ They are: ethylene, propylene, benzene, toluene, mixed xylenes (collectively known as high-value products), ammonia, and methanol.

China. In 2023, China had 19 Mt coal-based MTO capacity [49], which means around 21% of the ethylene is made through this process [20].

The coal-chemical industry is highly carbon-intensive due to coal's higher carbon content compared to other feedstocks, resulting in greater emissions during the production of products with relatively low carbon content [39]. Specifically, coal must first undergo gasification to produce synthesis gas, a process that is highly carbon-intensive [38]. For instance, the carbon intensity of ammonia production from coal-based and natural gas-based routes is approximately 6 tonnes and 3.1 tonnes of CO₂ per tonne of product, respectively, while the carbon intensity for methanol production is 3.9 tonnes and 1.6 tonnes of CO₂ per tonne of product, respectively[50]. CO₂eq emissions from one tonne of naphtha steam-cracked ethylene range from 0.8 to 2.1 tonnes, whereas emissions from coal-based MTO ethylene production range from 5.2 to 11.5 tonnes [20].

The prosperity of China's coal chemical industry is largely driven by the country's abundant coal resources and the government's emphasis on energy security [51]. China is resource-poor in oil and gas but rich in coal [52]. Energy security has long been a central concern for the Chinese government. Historically, China relied heavily on crude oil and petroleum products from the Soviet Union since its founding in 1949, but following the Sino-Soviet split in the early 1960s, the Soviet Union halted its oil supply to China, leading to significant economic disruptions [53]. As a result, energy security became a key priority for China's decision-makers from the late 1990s [54]. Geopolitical factors further intensify these concerns. China imports a large volume of oil from the politically unstable Middle East, with most tankers passing through the Malacca Strait, a piracy-prone area heavily patrolled by USA forces. Given the sensitive relationship between the USA and China, these factors exacerbate energy insecurity, even as China diversifies its import sources [55].

The petrochemical industry's heavy reliance on fossil fuels means its geographical location is largely determined by resource endowments. Consequently, coal-to-chemical projects are primarily concentrated in coal-rich regions in northern and western China (see **Fig. 3(a)** for the geographical distribution of coal reserves). In 2017, the Chinese government designated four coal-chemical-demonstration areas in these provinces (see **Fig. 3(b)**) [45]. Conversely, China's non-coal-based petrochemical capacity is closely linked to refinery placement, which is mainly concentrated in coastal provinces. China imports large amounts of oil through these coastal regions and refines it there. Over three-quarters of the production capacity for high-value products is owned by and located near refineries [38], demonstrating a form of industrial symbiosis. **Fig.3(b)** illustrates the locations of the top 30 chemical industrial parks in 2023 [56], as well as the 7 petrochemical bases established by the Chinese government since 2015 [57], which allows us to identify the distinct geographical distributions of coal-based chemical and petrochemical production.



a) Economically recoverable reserves of coal in 2020



b) The numbers of the top 30 chemical industrial park in different provinces in 2023 and 7 main petrochemical bases

Figure 3. Geographic Distribution of Coal Reserves and major Chemical Industrial Parks and Bases in China

2.2.2 Strategies for reducing CO_2 emissions in the petrochemical industry

The petrochemical industry produces a diverse array of products; however, there are several general decarbonization strategies shared across different primary products. Incremental approaches, such as switching the feedstock from coal to natural gas, improvements in energy efficiency, could help decarbonize the petrochemical industry, but the mitigation potential is limited. Thus, breakthrough technologies, such as CCUS, direct and indirect electrification (e.g., green hydrogen), and bioenergy routes are essential.

CCUS can play a critical role in transforming primary petrochemical production. Retrofitting China's existing petrochemical capacities with CCUS offers several advantages. First, it mitigates the risk of stranded assets associated with phasing out relatively new infrastructure. The average age of China's facilities is around 15 years for ammonia, 10 years for methanol, and 9 years for ethylene, while their typical lifespan is 30 to 40 years [39]. Second, China possesses substantial coal-tochemical capacity, which produces CO₂ at a higher concentration than power plant flue gas, making capture more cost-effective [58]. Captured CO₂ can be stored (CCS) or used (CCU) to produce CO-rich syngas, which, combined with green hydrogen, can create new petrochemicals. Additionally, CO₂ can be converted into the targeted C-based product, but it requires the development of a new chemical industry, organic chemistry, and catalyst [59].

Electrification, or green hydrogen, is another promising low-carbon technology. Green hydrogen can be produced through water electrolysis powered by renewable electricity, and then combined with captured CO_2 (from point sources or through Direct Air Capture) to produce chemicals [59]. Alternatively, green hydrogen can be used directly to produce carbon-free chemicals like ammonia. By replacing the source of hydrogen with low-carbon or renewable alternatives, low-carbon or even zero-emission production can be achieved.

Biomass utilization also offers a promising decarbonization pathway. Biomass contains the necessary carbon, hydrogen, and energy for chemical synthesis [59]. The biomass pathway achieves net-zero CO_2 emissions by capturing CO_2 from the atmosphere during biomass growth and releasing it during product synthesis and end-of-life. However, biomass feedstocks have less favorable chemical structures than fossil fuels, characterized by higher water content and lower energy content [59]. Furthermore, limited biomass resources and procurement challenges in China suggest that biomass-derived chemicals may remain expensive in the long term [39].

The technologies discussed above can achieve zero-carbon emissions during production. However, some chemical products generate significant Scope 3 emissions from consumption or post-consumption phases, such as plastic waste incineration. While breakthrough technologies can decarbonize fossil-based light

olefin production (the raw material for plastics), the carbon atoms contained in the plastic is released as CO_2 during waste incineration, leading to unavoidable emissions⁵. Therefore, carbon recycling and implementing CCS at incineration plants are crucial. However, for plastics, the most critical measures remain reducing consumption and increasing recycling rates until breakthrough technologies become widely available and cost-effective at scale [44].

2.2.3 Decarbonization policy in the petrochemical industry

Unlike the steel industry, with its defined 2030 emissions peak target, the national petrochemical policy lacks a clear timeline for peak emissions [20], let alone longterm carbon neutrality. Despite this national vagueness, some provinces, such as Fujian [60] and Jiangsu [61], have established their own petrochemical peak emissions targets for 2030. Similar to the steel industry, overcapacity plagues certain petrochemical sectors, particularly traditional coal-based petrochemicals. The coal chemical industry comprises two distinct branches: traditional and modern. Traditional coal chemistry encompasses processes like coal-to-coke, coal-tocalcium carbide, coal-to-methanol, coal-to-ammonia, coal-to-urea, and coke-oven gas-to-methanol [58, 62]. Modern coal chemistry, an emerging field, uses coal to produce alternative petrochemical products (primarily olefins and ethylene glycol) and coal-based fuels (e.g., oil and natural gas) [63]. While traditional coal chemistry already suffers from overcapacity, leading to policies restricting new production, modern coal chemistry has experienced rapid expansion. However, since 2023, the Chinese government has moved to curb the unregulated growth of the modern coalto-chemical industry, promoting instead the integration of these processes with green hydrogen and CCUS to mitigate CO₂ emissions [64]. Moreover, national short-term decarbonization policies also aim at reducing CO₂ emissions from the petrochemical industry focus on limiting new capacity, reducing energy consumption, developing low-carbon technologies, and increasing recycling rates. These policies are summarized in *Paper IV*.

⁵ Although non-fossil-based plastics emit CO₂ when incinerated, their lifecycle carbon emissions are neutral. With end-of-life treatment incorporating CCUS, the overall process can achieve negative emissions.

3. Methodology

3.1 Optimization model in energy and industrial system

Optimization means the selection of the optimal solution for given variables from a set of alternatives while meeting the given constraints. The selection criteria are a suitable selected function, called the objective function. Optimization models have long been the backbone of energy systems modelling [65], owing to the detailed techno-economic structure and the ability to analyze national policies [66]. Energy systems are defined as the process chain (or a subset of it) from the extraction of primary energy to the use of final energy to supply services and goods, or the combined processes of acquiring and using energy in a given society or economy [65]. We consider industrial systems as a subset of energy systems in this thesis, as industries consume a significant amount of energy. Sustainable energy system planning faces three dilemmas: minimizing environmental impact (such as CO2 emissions), ensuring energy security (such as meeting demand), and maintaining affordability (such as cost) [67]. These interrelated challenges highlight the necessity of analyzing emissions reduction targets not only from an environmental perspective but also in the context of energy security and affordability [66]. In this regard, the optimization paradigm plays a crucial role by incorporating cost, environmental constraints and energy security constraints to determine the optimal energy mix. In short, Energy System Optimization Modelling (ESOM) can operationalize the three central objectives of energy trilemmas as follows: a) affordability: minimize total system costs; b) environmental goals: diminish total GHG emissions; c) energy security: satisfaction of demand plus model-specific constraints [66].

ESOM can be categorized based on different criteria [66]. For example, in terms of geographic coverage, ESOM can be classified into local, national, regional, and global scales. *Paper I* in my thesis presents a local-national scale model, focusing on the provinces of China; *Paper II* is a national scale model, focusing on China as a whole; and *Paper III* explores a national-regional scale, covering eight jurisdictions in Asia. Regarding the time horizon, ESOM can be classified into short-term, mid-term, and long-term. *Paper I* focuses on the short-term, while *Paper*

II and *III* are long-term studies. In terms of the analytical approach, model ⁶ is typically classified as bottom-up, top-down, or hybrid. Among these, bottom-up models are the most commonly used in optimization because they provide detailed technical specifications and descriptions [65]. Top-down models, on the other hand, are primarily used for macroeconomic and general equilibrium modeling based on econometrics [67]. However, this top-down logic can also be applied to optimization models. *Paper I* in my thesis employs a hybrid approach or logic ⁷, where the top-down aspect involves the allocation of national emission reduction targets to individual provinces, and the bottom-up aspect focuses on how provincial technical decarbonization pathways can meet the national targets. *Paper II* and *III* by contrast, are entirely bottom-up based.

The fundamental purpose of modelling is to help understand the future, to support planning or adaptation [68]. Energy system optimization models are widely recognized as powerful tools for supporting decision-making in climate and energy policy [66, 69, 70]. The value of energy system modeling lies in highlighting policy implications rather than providing absolute numbers—offering insights rather than definitive answers [70]. Their appeal to policymakers stems from their ability to (*a*) represent a quantitative method that yields specific recommendations, (*b*) ensure economically optimal solutions under existing conditions, (*c*) enable the forecasting and exploring of optimal future systems based on incorporated assumptions, and (*d*) avoid emotional biases and irrationality [69].

ESOM also comes with certain challenges and drawbacks. Transparency and uncertainty are two major challenges [65]. One drawback of ESOM is the lack of transparency in the model structure, as the inner workings of the model cannot be described in detail. Increasing modeling transparency, specifically, making the model publicly available, including the source code, used data, and documentation of the model structure, has been proposed as a strategy to address the opacity of model structures [66]. Uncertainty is another significant challenge in energy system optimization [66]. For example, uncertainty in energy prices affects industrial transformation, with GHG emissions potentially fluctuating significantly in response to changes in fuel prices. Technological maturity and cost also play a role in industrial transformations, such as whether affordable CCUS can be successfully scaled up in the future, which will directly influence the selection of future decarbonization pathways and overall emissions. In such cases, sensitivity analysis can be implemented to explore key parameters' impact on model outputs. A good

⁶ Note that here we are referring to energy system models rather than energy system optimization models, as we aim to provide a broader picture for readers to better understand the top-down and bottom-up approaches.

⁷ Although *Paper I* emphasizes the top-down approach in its title, the optimization model employed is in fact bottom-up. We chose to highlight "top-down" to reflect the governance structure in which national targets are allocated to provinces.

sensitivity analysis can mitigate overconfidence in the results by delineating the boundaries of the outcome's usefulness [71]. Apart from sensitive analysis, modeling can also articulate in non-technical terms the fundamental forces that shape the results and characterize the uncertainty surrounding those findings [71]. Finally, other solutions including stochastic programming, and Monte Carlo analysis could also reduce uncertainty [66, 70]. These methods typically address uncertainty by incorporating probability distributions into model inputs, parameters, and structures, leading to a range of possible outputs around a "best-guess" estimation [68]. However, when facing a future fraught with uncertainties driven by climate, technological, socio-economic, and political changes, along with corresponding policy and societal responses, the premise of identifying a single "best-guess" output may no longer be feasible or suitable [68, 72]. Instead, multiple plausible futures need to be considered, and scenario analysis provides a structured approach to exploring them [68].

3.2 Scenarios analysis

Scenarios are possible futures that are built up from a consistent set of assumptions [73]. The use of scenarios, originally developed in military planning and simulations, was extended in the early 1960s to strategic planning in businesses and organizations, where decision-makers sought to systematically analyze the long-term implications of investment and other strategic decisions [74]. The goal of working with scenarios in ESOM is not to predict the future, but to better understand uncertainties in order to reach decisions that are robust under a wide range of possible futures [74, 75].

There is no consensus on the classification of scenarios, as different typologies exist. However, several typologies reflect the view that futures studies explore possible, probable and/or preferable futures [76]. Börjeson et al. [76] proposed a typology that categorizes scenarios based on the questions the users seek to answer: (a) What will happen? (predictive scenarios), (b) What can happen? (explorative scenarios), (c) How can a specific target be reached? (normative scenarios). Each category is further divided into two subtypes (see **Fig.4** for details). **Predictive scenarios** are categorized into two types based on their conditions for future developments. *Forecasts* address the question: what will happen if the likely development unfolds? *What-if scenarios* explore: what will happen under specific conditions? **Explorative scenarios** are divided into *external scenarios* and *strategic scenarios*. *External scenarios* respond to the user's question: What can happen to the development of external factors? *Strategic scenarios* respond to the question: What can happen if we act in a certain way? Explorative scenarios resemble what-if scenarios. However, unlike what-if scenarios, they adopt a long-term perspective, allowing for structural
transformations. They often start from a future state rather than the present. **Normative scenarios** consist of two different types, distinguished by how the system structure is treated. *Preserving scenarios* respond to the question: How can the target be reached, by adjustments to the current situation? *Transforming scenarios* respond to the question: How can the target be reached, when the prevailing structure blocks necessary changes?



Figure 4. Scenarios classification based on Börjeson et al. [76].

In the first three papers, I employ three types of scenario analysis. *Paper I* examines how different provinces should adjust their steel production capacities to meet the national 2030 decarbonization targets for the steel sector. Two policy scenarios are constructed: one where the government prioritizes minimizing air pollution impact, and another where cost minimization is prioritized. This allows for an analysis of how various policy preferences influence regional capacity allocation. The scenarios in this paper are primarily *what-if scenarios*, as the study explores the impacts of different policy choices on regional capacity—addressing the central question, "What will happen if different policies are adopted?" Since the study focuses on short-term outcomes, it falls under *what-if scenarios* rather than *explorative scenarios*. *Paper II* examines the decarbonization pathways of China's ethylene industry under three policy scenarios: ambitious climate policies, aggressive plastic policies, and integrated actions. These scenarios explore how policy orientations shape technological pathways, cumulative emissions, and other key factors. Thus, the paper primarily employs a normative scenario approach while

integrating explorative elements. The normative aspect is reflected in ensuring all pathways align with the carbon neutrality goal, answering "How can the target be reached?" Meanwhile, the explorative aspect emerges in analyzing variations in technological roadmaps, emissions, and costs under different policies scenarios, aligning with "What will happen under specific conditions?". *Paper III* investigates how green HBI trade influences steel decarbonization in Asia through four scenarios: HBI trade, No HBI trade, Rapid grid decarbonization, and Paris-compliant scenario. These scenarios assess how HBI trade and varying decarbonization ambitions shape steel technological pathways, all constrained by a carbon neutrality target between 2050 and 2070. This study primarily employs explorative scenarios but incorporates normative elements—the former explores "What can happen if HBI trade is introduced or stronger climate actions are implemented?", while the latter focuses on "How can the target be reached?"

In practice, distinguishing between normative and explorative scenarios is often challenging, as narrative framing could influence classification. For instance, if I reframe *Paper II*'s focus from achieving carbon neutrality to how different policies shape decarbonization pathways, it will shift from a normative scenario approach to an explorative scenario with normative elements. Indeed, combining these approaches is common. As Vliet et al. [77] highlight, a combined backcasting and exploratory scenario approach leverages exploratory scenarios as external socio-environmental contexts, and by backcasting within different exploratory scenarios, key uncertainties in major drivers are considered, allowing for a robustness analysis of strategies. For example, my second paper demonstrates that CCUS is not a viable option for ethylene decarbonization, as it is absent in all mitigation pathways.

3.3 Policy analysis

The uncertainty of the future makes policymaking challenging, as different policy options have diverse and far-reaching impacts, and various groups evaluate their value differently. However, public policymakers have a responsibility to develop and implement policies that are most likely to promote citizens' health, safety, and well-being. Under high uncertainty and limited data, identifying key policy issues is already a difficult task. Without analysis, policy decisions often rely on intuition and guesswork, potentially leading to regrettable outcomes [78]. Thus, undertaking public policy analysis is necessary.

Policy analysis is a multidisciplinary inquiry aimed at generating, critically assessing, and communicating policy-relevant information [79]. It originated from operations research in the late 1940s and 1950s, evolved into systems analysis in the late 1950s and 1960s, and ultimately became a problem-oriented approach to governmental decision-making in the 1960s and 1970s [80]. Rather than replacing

policymakers' judgment, policy analysis seeks to strengthen it by clarifying problems, identifying alternatives, and comparing their consequences in terms of costs and benefits [80]. Thus, policy analysis not only describes and explains the causes and consequences of policies but also engages with policymakers through normative evaluations of what policies should be [79].

Policy analysis is not a way of solving a specific problem but is a general approach to problem solving. Instead of relying on a single methodology, it integrates multiple methods within a broader analytical framework [80]. Therefore, in *Paper IV*, I employed Nilsson's [81] green industrial policy analysis framework, combined with a literature review and interviews, to analyze China's green industrial policies.

Green industrial policies are considered key to accelerating climate action [82], as decarbonization of energy-intensive industries requires overcoming multiple and systemic barriers and breaking the dependence on fossil fuels and feedstock [10, 16, 83]. This is especially true for the extremely carbon dependent steel and petrochemicals industries [9, 84]. Decarbonization of energy-intensive industries requires breaking their dependence on fossil fuels, addressing technical, economic and institutional path dependencies [10, 16]. Technical path dependency is evident, as industrial production remains heavily reliant on the fossil fuels infrastructure for both energy and feedstock. Breakthrough technologies are essential since the Best Available Technologies cannot fully decarbonize the sector [84]. Most breakthrough technologies remain in the pilot or demonstration stage and will struggle to compete with traditional processes, which have evolved into highly energy-efficient, complex, and integrated systems [16]. Economic barriers also hinder decarbonization. Energy-intensive industries require substantial capital investment and have long asset lifespans, making major technological transformations and investments in low-carbon processes infrequent and the industry risk averse [14]. Additionally, large industrial sites-including access to power grids, gas pipelines, harbors, and railways—are developed for existing fossil technologies [10]. Shifting production processes will render most of this infrastructure obsolete, requiring substantial investment in infrastructure for e.g. renewable energy technologies and Carbon Capture, Utilization, and Storage (CCUS) [84]. Finally, most low-carbon products will remain more expensive than fossil-based alternatives unless carbon emissions are properly priced. Institutional inertia and political barriers further lock industries into existing carbon-intensive technologies. Energy-intensive industries have developed many decades, and have influential lobbying groups, primarily composed of industry associations with close ties to policymakers [14]. These groups exert significant regional political influence due to EIIs' economic and employment contributions and typically adopt conservative positions, and they oppose regulations perceived as a threat to the current competitiveness [14]. Furthermore, the international trade dynamics of these industries often raise concerns about competitive disadvantages, leading to exemptions from strict national climate policies [16].

4. Results and methodological reflection

4.1 Steel decarbonization (Paper I, III and IV)

(1) Paper I: Short-term steel decarbonization at provincial level in China: minimizing cost or air pollution impact?

The steel industry is a major contributor to emissions of CO_2 and key air pollutants. Reducing air pollution has been a policy priority in China in the past decade. Reducing CO_2 emissions has more recently also become a key priority partially manifested through the signing of the Paris Agreement in 2015 and China's carbon neutrality commitment. In 2021, the Chinese government unofficially indicated its short-term steel decarbonization targets: to peak CO_2 emissions in 2025 and reduce them by 30% by 2030. However, the official target eventually reduced its ambition to the 2030 carbon peaking goal. In the short term, reducing steel production capacity or replacing traditional BF-BOF capacity with scrap-based EAF capacity can simultaneously reduce air pollution and CO₂ emissions. Since different policy preferences may influence provincial actions, the key question is: which provinces should implement these measures under varying policy preferences? In China, the central government sets national targets and then assigns targets to provincial and lower levels governments for implementation. Since phasing-out capacity will have negative effects on provincial GDP and local employment, provincial governments may engage in nominal compliance while acting contrary to the central directives. In fact, the persistent issue of overcapacity in China's steel industry is largely the result of the strategic game between the central and provincial governments. The above is the starting point for this research.

Based on the above, *Paper I* developed an optimization model to analyze how different policy preferences in scenarios, focusing on cost minimization or air pollution impact minimization, will affect geographical distribution of steel capacity and provincial decarbonization strategies. We first provided provincial decarbonization pathways (See Figure 5) and then analyzed the factors required for emission reductions, such as scrap demand, and the social factors that may arise, such as the impact on local air pollution, under different policy contexts. Finally, a sensitivity analysis was provided. All the above is based on the assumption that

China's steel industry could peak carbon emissions by 2025 and achieve a 30% reduction in carbon emissions by 2030. We aim to assess whether this ambitious target is feasible and explore the potential conditions in technical, economic, and policy-related aspects for its achievement.

The results indicate that China's steel industry can peak CO₂ emissions in 2025 and achieve a 30% reduction by 2030, which may suggest that current carbon reduction policies in the steel sector are relatively weak. To meet this target, scrap availability will be a significant challenge, with an estimated need to import at least 68-76 Mt of scrap annually from 2026 to 2030. Therefore, trade may play a crucial role in steel decarbonization. The paper also emphasizes the importance of policy balance. Although the total cost remains nearly the same across all scenarios, a strategy focused on minimizing costs could reduce CO₂ emissions by an additional 68–148 Mt, compared to a strategy focused on reducing air pollution impact. On the other hand, prioritizing reduced air pollution impact as the primary objective leads to 22–26% less air pollution impact compared to the minimized mitigation cost strategy. Furthermore, different policy strategies will result in varying geographical distributions of primary and secondary steelmaking capacity, due to regional heterogeneity. This, in turn, will affect local economies and lead to different effects in different provinces, such as scrap demand.



Figure 5. Result from *Paper I*: Comparison of capacity in 2020, 2025 and 2030 in EO (Economic objective model) and AO (Air pollution impact objective model) of BAU (Business As Usual Scenario).

(2) Paper III: Long-Term decarbonization in the Asian steel industry: to trade or not to trade?

Paper I highlighted the significance of trade and the impact of regional heterogeneity on steel decarbonization. This provides inspiration for *Paper III*, where we broaden our research focus from China to the entire Asian region and extend the study's scope to a more comprehensive, long-term perspective. The Asian steel industry accounts for 73% of global production and is expanding. Similar to China, many large steel-producing countries in Asia either have significant BF-BOF capacities or plan to invest heavily in them. In addition, power systems in Asian countries are predominantly coal-based, and decarbonizing the grid will take considerable time, potentially delaying the availability of green H-DRI, which is the current most promising green technology. These factors will affect the pace of steel decarbonization in these countries and deepen their carbon lock-in. Importing green HBI, iron ore reduced with renewable hydrogen, from renewablerich countries such as Australia, Brazil, and South Africa could be a viable solution to overcome constraints related to access to renewable energy. This concept is gaining popularity, with several projects currently in the pipeline. The above is the background of *Paper III* (see Figure 6).



Figure 6. Graphical Abstract for Paper III

Therefore, *Paper III* examines the effects of green-HBI trade from Australia, Brazil, and South Africa, along with steel decarbonization strategies for the top eight Asian steel producers. We develop a cost optimization model, spanning from 2023 to 2070, to study how the implementation of green HBI trade will affect the eight Asian jurisdictions in achieving their Nationally Determined Contributions and the Paris Agreement targets. We outline four scenarios based on the presence or absence of HBI-trading, as well as varying climate ambitions related to grid power decarbonization and steel industry emissions. Given the long-term nature of the model that the significant uncertainties are involved, we discuss the challenges and opportunities green HBI trade might present to Australia, Brazil, and South Africa in areas such as iron ore, renewable electricity, green hydrogen, and labor force. Additionally, we also presented the geopolitical barriers faced by the Asian region in facilitating HBI trade.

The study showed that green HBI trading can help the Asia ease and speed up the transition to a renewables-based steel industry: it helps Asian steel industry avoid the barrier of limited speed to scale up renewables, reduce cost, and total cumulative CO₂ emissions, thus mitigating the global temperature increases. Specifically, even though the total cost is similar, scenarios with green HBI trade could reduce 2-4% compared with the scenario without HBI trade. In addition, HBI-trade could accelerate the phase-out of BF-BOF steel by 2 to 5 years and reduce BF-BOF steel production by 2 Gt, thus lowering the cumulative CO₂-emissions from the steel sector by 4 Gt (see **Figure 7** for the technological pathways). Consequently, current plans to expand BF-BOF capacity may lead to stranded assets when steel is decarbonizing. These insights might help industries and policy makers to redirect their focus in their investment plans of BF-BOF.



Figure 7. Result from *Paper III*: Steel production pathways in TrHBISc (Traded green HBI scenario) and NoHBISc (No trade HBI scenario)

(3) Paper IV: Back to the present: are existing green industrial policies sufficient for decarbonating the steel industry deeply?

Paper I and **Paper III** demonstrate that achieving carbon neutrality in the steel industry is feasible from a technical-economic perspective. However, the scenarios described in papers will not occur spontaneously; they require policy intervention to overcome technological, economic and political barriers. Understanding existing policies, assessing whether they are sufficient to facilitate carbon neutrality, and identifying their potential challenges are thus important. This insight inspired **Paper IV**.

In *Paper IV*, we employed qualitative analysis, to assess China's current green industrial policies on deep decarbonization in the steel and petrochemical industry, and how the future industrial policies could be designed and utilized to accelerate and achieve the carbon neutrality goal. The framework we adopted from Nilsson et al. [81] which relies on six pillars: directionality, knowledge creation and innovation, creating and reshaping markets, building capacity for governance and change, international coherence, and sensitivity to socio-economic implications of phaseouts.

The results regarding to the China's steel industry are as follows: China's green industrial policy for the steel sector has begun to take shape but remains insufficient to achieve carbon neutrality. While the country has established a clear directionality for carbon neutrality, the steel industry lacks long-term, specific policies, which may weaken this directionality. Among steel companies, state-owned enterprises have taken the lead in defining clear pathways, often setting more ambitious targets than national goals. In terms of knowledge creation and innovation, China has launched several pilot steel decarbonization projects, primarily led by SOEs. Among these, hydrogen-based reduction, whether through direct reduction or hydrogen injection into blast furnaces, has progressed further in both the number of projects and their maturity compared to CCUS projects. Despite some policies aimed at market creation and reshaping, their impact has been limited. Most policies are the production regulation, while market pull polices remain largely absent. Regarding phase-out policies and their social implications, China has implemented phase-out policies for the steel industry. However, these policies are not driven by climate concerns, and their implementation has been weak. Additionally, unemployment in the sector may worsen during the decarbonization process.

4.2 Petrochemical decarbonization (Paper II and IV)

(1) Paper II: What are the potential decarbonization pathways for China's ethylene industry to achieve carbon neutrality?

Paper II developed an optimization model to explore potential long-term carbon reduction pathways for the ethylene industry in China. Ethylene is a valuable research subject for several reasons. First, it is one of the seven major primary products in the petrochemical industry. Additionally, ethylene is a key raw material for plastic production, and plastics have a very long and complex value chain, which includes primary production, compounding, converting, recycling, and waste incineration. Research on the long-term carbon reduction pathways of the ethylene industry in China remains relatively scarce. This is likely due to technological complexity and the high uncertainty in long-term studies, such as those related to technology choices and future policy orientations. Therefore, Paper II aims to address this research gap by exploring future long-term zero-emissions production pathways for the ethylene industry in China, by considering different policy scenarios. Although this paper focuses solely on ethylene, by analyzing its production, consumption-plastic products, and post-consumption processes, such as plastic recycling and waste incineration, a deeper understanding of the entire value chain is gained and a more comprehensive understanding of the complexity of the petrochemical industry is developed.

A techno-economic bottom-up optimization model was developed to explore China's potential decarbonization pathways for the ethylene industry. To describe potential future policy uncertainties, four scenarios were generated by varying climate ambitions (ambitious climate policy orientations), as well as plastic and plastic waste management ambitions (aggressive plastic policy orientations). All scenarios are designed to meet China's current CO₂ target, i.e., to peak by 2030 and to achieve carbon neutrality by 2060, at minimum cost. Since the primary use of ethylene is for plastic production, this study also considers the end-of-life emissions from waste incineration (downstream Scope 3 emissions) and solutions such as CCS for waste incineration. Based on the above, we assessed the cumulative total emissions and the timing of technology options. Due to the uncertainties inherent in long-term research, we conducted extensive qualitative analysis of the policy challenges that remain for each scenario in achieving carbon neutrality.

The paper found that the cumulative CO_2 emissions across the scenarios differ significantly, ranging from 4.3 to 7.8 Gt, even when carbon neutrality by 2060 is achieved in all scenarios. The results suggest that ambitious policies targeting plastics can lead to lower costs and reduced cumulative emissions compared to ambitious climate-focused policies. This may encourage policymakers to start developing relevant policies for controlling plastic usage and promoting recycling. The paper also highlights the importance of adopting CCS for waste incineration, which could reduce cumulative CO_2 emissions by up to 2 Gt. However, reduced overall demand and increased recycling rates should be prioritized due to the challenges associated with CCS. The results suggest that the Chinese ethylene industry should adopt a mixed portfolio of production technologies, where the share of emission-intensive coal-based methanol-to-olefins is limited. These insights might help industries and policymakers to redirect their investment strategies for coal-based projects.

(2) Paper IV: Back to the present: are existing green industrial policies sufficient for the petrochemical industry?

Paper II provides an in-depth understanding of the petrochemical product ethylene. The paper illustrates some challenges of decarbonizing the petrochemical industry, including technical, economic, infrastructure-related, and political issues. However, the analysis is not comprehensive enough to fully understand the petrochemical industry. Therefore, in **Paper IV**, in addition to considering the emission reduction policies for the steel industry which were previously mentioned, we expand the scope of our study to the entire petrochemical industry, aiming to provide a more comprehensive analysis that helps both Chinese policymakers and international readers better understand China's petrochemical industry policies.

We found that: while green industrial policies for the petrochemical industry have begun to take shape, they remain weaker than those for the steel industry. Despite a clear national carbon neutrality target, the absence of specific peak and neutrality policies for petrochemicals weakens the industry's decarbonization directionality. However, the release of carbon neutrality roadmaps by four major petrochemical companies provides some reinforcement. In terms of knowledge creation and innovation, the petrochemical industry has launched several decarbonization pilot projects, but they remain in the early stages, focusing primarily on green hydrogen, green ammonia, and green methanol, with little attention to other petrochemical products. Policy support for market creation and restructuring is notably lacking. Although phase-out policies exist, overcapacity remains a challenge, particularly in traditional coal-based chemical production. Compared to the steel industry, the social impact of the petrochemical sector's low-carbon transition is expected to be less significant.

4.3 Comparisons between steel and petrochemical industries

In this thesis, I aim to explore the potential decarbonization pathways and policies for the steel and petrochemical industries. While both sectors are highly energy-intensive and major contributors to global CO_2 emissions, they differ significantly in terms of technological feasibility, policy design, and the pace of transition required to align with climate targets. Throughout the research process, I have gathered several observations about these two sectors. These insights may highlight the unique challenges in each industry.

(1) My initial observation is that modeling the petrochemical industry poses greater challenges compared to the steel industry, owing to its higher level of complexity, which is reflected in both the diversity of technological choices and the difficulty of data acquisition.

(1.1) The variety of technologies makes modeling in the petrochemical industry complex

The petrochemical industry produces a wide range of products and follows diverse technological routes. Given this complexity, it is crucial to carefully define the research scope and consider the interrelationships between different products when building the model. In *Paper II*, we focused on the ethylene industry, a choice informed by extensive literature analysis and a comprehensive review of the petrochemical sector. Additionally, the study not only examined ethylene but also its links to plastics, one of the most significant petrochemical products. In contrast, research on the steel industry typically centers on crude steel production, which simplifies model construction.

The technological complexity of petrochemical production further complicates modeling. Taking ethylene as an example, its production involves various

feedstocks, including naphtha, coal, biomass, CO₂, and hydrogen, as well as multiple processes such as steam cracking, MTO, and Fischer-Tropsch synthesis (FT). These elements can be combined in numerous ways, resulting in a variety of production routes that increase both modeling complexity and computational difficulty. Moreover, the future viability of emerging technologies, such as biomass-based MTO or FT, remains uncertain, further complicating model development. In *Paper II*, selecting the specific production routes was challenging, as an excessive number of routes could introduce too many decision variables, increasing the difficulty of solving the model. After careful evaluation, I ultimately selected eight routes, considering technological maturity and feedstock impact, which was detailed in the paper for clarity.

In contrast, the steel industry relies on a more limited set of mainstream technologies, primarily BF-BOF and EAF. There is also a general consensus on the most promising future technologies, such as hydrogen-based metallurgy or, as some argue, CCUS. This relative technological stability makes modeling steel industry pathways comparatively less complex ⁸.

(1.2) The ambiguity of data complicates petrochemical industry modeling

Compared to the steel industry, obtaining relevant data for petrochemical modeling is more challenging. Taking ethylene in *Paper II* as an example, its carbon emissions mainly include direct emissions, and indirect emissions from electricity and heat/steam consumption, if excluding Scope 3 emissions. Accurate data on both types of emissions are essential. While direct emissions can be assumed constant (if we don't consider energy efficiency improvements), indirect emissions vary due to power sector decarbonization. As the power system shifts toward low-carbon sources, carbon emission factors will decrease. Consequently, emission data from short-term studies, which often aggregate direct and indirect emissions, cannot be directly applied.

Although my *Papers I* and *III* on the steel industry also require such data, a key distinction lies in the carbon fate of fossil fuels. In steel production, nearly all fossil fuel carbon is emitted as CO_2 , whereas in ethylene production, a portion is locked within the product. This difference arises because fossil fuels primarily serve as energy sources in steelmaking, while in petrochemicals, they function as both energy and feedstock. As a result, steel industry emissions can be estimated using well-documented energy consumption data and corresponding carbon emission

⁸ However, this does not imply that steel modelling is easy.

factors ⁹. However, this approach is not applicable to ethylene production, where the retained carbon fraction is often unclear or underreported in the literature, making direct emission calculations more complex ¹⁰.

To address this challenge, I derived emission data from existing literature. However, this process was not straightforward¹¹. Although many studies report carbon emission factors for ethylene in China, their scopes vary, leading to inconsistencies. Many also fail to distinguish between direct and indirect emissions. To ensure accuracy, I systematically collected nearly all available studies on ethylene-related emissions in China, listed and analyzed their reported emissions. Additionally, I cross-referenced other sources for adjustments and corrections, ultimately deriving the most probable direct emission values. Overall, the data used in each article undergoes extensive literature verification before being disclosed in the paper, with the hope that it will be helpful to future readers.

This case of ethylene exemplifies the broader data challenges in petrochemical modeling. The industry encompasses numerous products, each with multiple production routes, where emission factors and economic coefficients vary based on scope definitions. Moreover, as long-term studies remain limited, relevant data are scarce, further complicating model development.

(2) My second observation is that the decarbonization in the petrochemical industry is slower than that in the steel industry in China.

(2.1) Limited research on decarbonization pathways in the petrochemical industry

When I began drafting my first paper on the steel industry in 2021, research on its long-term deep decarbonization pathways was relatively limited. However, by the time I completed that paper and tried to expand the model in 2022, approximately ten studies had been published on China's steel industry carbon neutrality pathways. In contrast, research on the petrochemical industry's long-term decarbonization remains sparse. Most existing studies focused on targets around 2030, leaving a significant gap in understanding long-term strategies. Recognizing this disparity, I decided to shift the focus of my second paper to explore the long-term decarbonization pathways of the petrochemical industry.

⁹ In steel production, "carbon-lock-in" reactions—where carbon forms stable compounds such as carbonates in slag—also occur. However, the amount of carbon locked this way is negligible compared to total emissions and is usually ignored.

¹⁰ The excessive production routes of ethylene, along with China's unique MTO process, further complicate the difficulty of obtaining relevant data.

¹¹ I spent over three months collecting various data required for my ethylene paper, a time span that far exceeded the time I spent gathering data for my steel papers.

(2.2) Findings from interviews support this observation

This discrepancy is also evident in the interviews conducted for my fourth paper. We interviewed nine colleagues from industrial decarbonization groups in various NGOs, most of whom demonstrated a deeper understanding of steel industry decarbonization than petrochemicals (which is also true for myself). Admittedly, the sample size is relatively small. However, when combined with discussions with other professionals working in industrial decarbonization, online news, and academic literature, this observation is indirectly substantiated. Moreover, in these interviews, three colleagues explicitly mentioned that China's steel industry may have peaked between 2021 and 2023. In contrast, no clear opinions were provided regarding the peak carbon timeline for the petrochemical industry.

(2.3) Policy and corporate commitments further reflect the disparity

Paper IV, which compares the decarbonization progress of China's steel and petrochemical industries, also provides supporting evidence for this observation:

(i) Stronger policy support for the steel industry

For example, policies explicitly require the steel industry to peak carbon emissions by 2030, whereas no such mandate exists for the chemical industry. Additionally, China's carbon trading market currently includes the steel sector but has yet to incorporate the petrochemical industry. Another example is that the Chinese steel industry has an official green steel standard, while the petrochemical industry has only issued standards related to renewable hydrogen.

(ii) More companies in the steel industry have decarbonization roadmaps

Among the companies analyzed, nine in the steel sector have publicly disclosed decarbonization roadmaps, compared to only four in the petrochemical sector. Furthermore, five steel companies have committed to carbon neutrality by 2050, whereas only three chemical companies have made similar commitments.

(iii) Decarbonization efforts in the petrochemical industry are primarily driven by energy system integration rather than direct product transformation.

Although the petrochemical industry has implemented more decarbonization projects than the steel industry, these projects are not mature and primarily focus on co-producing green hydrogen, green ammonia, and methanol in regions with abundant renewable energy resources. The primary objective of such projects is energy storage—consuming renewable electricity while addressing challenges in green hydrogen storage and transportation. As a result, current decarbonization efforts in the petrochemical industry are more aligned with energy sector transitions rather than fundamental changes in petrochemical production itself.

Of course, these observations do not imply that achieving carbon neutrality in the steel industry is easier. The sector faces additional challenges, such as overcapacity and declining future demand, which will necessitate the phase-out of existing fossil-

based capacity. This transition is likely to lead to unemployment and associated social issues, further complicating the decarbonization process.

4.4 Methodological reflection

4.4.1 From quantitative to qualitative analysis

Across my four papers, the methodological focus shifts from quantitative to qualitative analysis. *Paper I* relies almost entirely on model results. In *Papers II* and *III*, while modeling remains central, substantial sections analyze factors within and beyond the model, such as the carbon market (*Paper II*) and geopolitical barriers (*Paper III*). By *Paper IV*, I fully adopt a qualitative approach, analyzing China's green industrial policies without quantitative modeling. The methodological shift from *Paper I* to *Papers II* and *III* is driven by their longer research periods.

Paper I focuses on short-term research (2021–2030), whereas **Papers II** and **III** extend to 2060–2070. In short-term studies, uncertainty is relatively low, so parameters exhibit minimal variation, and their changes can be reasonably estimated. Moreover, event trends tend to be more stable, making it easier to incorporate detailed constraints into the model. As discussed in **Section 3.2**, **Paper I**'s scenarios (*what-if scenarios*) and models are more predictive in nature. This justifies the model-driven focus in short-term research, as accurate model outputs offer actionable insights, aiding decision-makers in formulating effective and practical response strategies.

In contrast, long-term research faces greater uncertainties due to potential transformation in external factors, making it difficult to define specific parameters and constraints. As a result, these factors require non-technical discussions. Taking **Paper II** as an example, I aimed to incorporate carbon pricing into the model when analyzing the ethylene decarbonization pathway. However, China has yet to establish a mature carbon market, and the petrochemical industry is not even included in the existing carbon trading system. Consequently, predicting the carbon price for the next 40 years is highly challenging. Thus, although I referred to possible carbon price projections from existing literature under different scenarios, I also provided a qualitative discussion on China's carbon market. This aimed to offer additional information, helping readers better understand the model and results, and ultimately providing deeper insights for policymakers. Another example comes from Paper III, where I examined the impact of importing green HBI from renewable-rich countries like Australia on Asia. When initially constructing the model, I considered setting an upper limit on annual green HBI imports. My concern was that, without such a constraint, the cost-minimization optimization model might

suggest that all Asian countries would rely solely on imported HBI instead of developing domestic production, given the lower cost of imported HBI. However, this outcome would not align with reality. The challenge was determining a reasonable constraint. For instance, arbitrarily assuming that each country could import at most 50% of its HBI lacked solid empirical support. My supervisors proposed an alternative approach: rather than imposing an arbitrary constraint, why not let the model generate extreme results? While real-world scenarios typically lie between extremes, analyzing such cases can help identify potential risks and challenges, informing strategies to mitigate them. Thus, I then adopted this method and conducted a non-technical discussion to help readers better understand the opportunities and challenges associated with HBI trade.

Paper IV, unlike the previous ones, does not involve modeling and adopts a purely qualitative approach. This contrasts with quantitative analysis, which focuses on transforming phenomena into measurable data and identifying relationships between variables. In qualitative analysis, the emphasis shifts to describing, understanding, and explaining phenomena. In **Papers I**, **II**, and **III**, most non-numeric information is eventually converted into numerical data for analysis, and a significant portion of my time spent on sourcing and validating data. When I began **Paper IV**, I initially brought my quantitative research habits into qualitative work, focusing too much on figures and details. For example, I spent considerable time collecting R&D investment rates from various SOE steel companies to demonstrate that SOEs invest heavily in R&D. However, after several revisions, I removed this data, as specific R&D numbers were less crucial than understanding the underlying reasons for readers.

Another key difference is that qualitative research demands a higher level of logical structuring and linguistic precision compared to quantitative analysis. In quantitative studies, once the model generates results, it becomes clear which aspects can be discussed—such as costs, carbon emissions, and decarbonization pathways. The model itself helps shape the structure of the paper, ensuring a structured discussion. Additionally, numerical results provide a clear basis for interpretation, where the language primarily serves to describe patterns and explain underlying principles. In contrast, qualitative research lacks numerical results to offer a predefined logical framework. Although theoretical frameworks can provide some structure, they are often more flexible and require additional reasoning to develop a coherent narrative. This necessitates extensive literature review and critical analysis to establish a well-founded argument and overcome subjectivity. Furthermore, qualitative research places greater demands on linguistic accuracy and maintaining an unbiased perspective, as arguments rely solely on interpretation rather than numerical evidence. For example, in *Paper IV*, although the framework I used provides six pillars for analysis, how to adapt each pillar to the specific context of China and create a coherent storyline under each pillar was a challenge for me. To address this, I spent a significant amount of time reviewing literature,

conducting interviews, extracting relevant information, and constructing the storyline. At the same time, objectivity was also a challenge. This study focuses on China's policies, and many international readers hold biased views toward China's climate policies. As a Chinese, I might also have a positive bias towards my country's policies. In this context, achieving a fair and objective analysis became a significant challenge. This required me to use neutral language to describe things comprehensively, ensuring an objective presentation of all facts.

Ouantitative and qualitative research share certain fundamental similarities. In the first three papers, I applied optimization principles and developed sophisticated models tailored to the research questions. In Paper IV, while the theoretical framework provided a foundational structure for analysis, I still had to refine and adapt it based on my understanding of the problem to ensure its applicability to the research context. This process closely parallels the construction and refinement of models in quantitative research. Moreover, both approaches follow a similar cognitive process, characterized by a "divergence-convergence-divergence" pattern. In the first three papers, I began with an extensive literature review to establish the background and identify key research questions. I then concentrated on developing and solving an optimization model. Once the results were obtained, I expanded the discussion to explore their broader policy and practical implications. Qualitative research follows a comparable logical structure. It also begins with a comprehensive literature review to develop familiarity with existing theories. The next stage involves refining the research focus, employing a theoretical framework for analysis, and synthesizing insights from literature and interviews. Finally, the findings are contextualized within a broader framework, assessing their implications for policy or industry development.

4.4.2 Transparency and robustness

Transparency is a key consideration in the papers. As stated in **Section 3.1**, a key limitation of optimization models is the difficulty in observing their internal operations. However, this opacity can be addressed by making the model publicly available, including its source code, input data, and documentation of the model structure. To enhance transparency in *Paper I*, *II* and *III*, I have provided relevant data, model structures, and algorithms in the main text and appendix, along with detailed explanations of model assumptions and limitations. Additionally, qualitative analysis is incorporated to make the model's functioning more intuitive. In *Paper IV*, I further ensure transparency by explaining the rationale and applicability of the analytical framework, as well as providing a detailed description of the research methodology.

Robustness is assessed throughout all papers. Sensitivity analysis is conducted to evaluate the model's robustness, in *Paper I*, *II* and *III*. Moreover, setting multiple scenarios and examining whether the model produces reasonable results under

different assumptions is also a crucial approach for assessing robustness. In *Paper IV*, robustness is further reinforced by combining multiple interviews and literature reviews, with interviews conducted and recorded independently by two researchers to ensure data reliability.

5. Discussion

China faces several challenges and dilemmas in its climate governance in industrial sectors, including energy security, economic stability, and geopolitical factors. Energy and recourse security has always been a core consideration in China's governance, which explains the country's heavy reliance on coal. For instance, the rapid development of coal-based chemical industries is a typical example of focusing on energy security. Moreover, the Chinese steel industry's emphasis on CCUS (e.g., the use of hydrogen in blast furnaces combined with CCUS) reflects this issue, as such technological routes can help reduce stranded capacity and maintain industry stability. However, it remains uncertain whether CCUS can be commercialized and scaled up at low cost in the future, so dependence on this technology must be cautiously evaluated. Nonetheless, in the long term, climate goal may help alleviate China's energy security concerns. For example, large-scale adoption of scrap-EAF steelmaking can reduce dependence on imported iron ore. Similarly, in the petrochemical industry, the current heavy reliance on imported oil as feedstock may decrease if green hydrogen and renewable carbon can replace fossil-based carbon sources in the future.

Economic stability is another significant challenge for China's industrial decarbonization. One example of China's emphasis on stability is the ex-post allocation of free allowances in the carbon market, which has minimal impact on product prices and output levels [85], thereby contributing to the stability of the economy and production. However, this strong focus on economic stability may somewhat slowdown industrial decarbonization, particularly in the face of post-pandemic economic downturn pressures. The economic shock in the post-pandemic era, the real estate bubble in China, and the slowdown in urbanization have exacerbated the existing overcapacity in the steel industry, leading to declining industry profitability and rising unemployment. In fact, due to reduced production, China's steel industry may have already reached its carbon peak between 2021 and 2024, whereas the policy originally required a peak by 2030. Given the slowdown in economic growth, industrial restructuring, and market volatility, the steel sector's decarbonization efforts may slow down in the short term.

Geopolitical factors, such as the implementation of **carbon tariffs**, may exacerbate the challenges China faces in industrial decarbonization. With the European Union introducing the Carbon Border Adjustment Mechanism (CBAM) and more countries considering carbon tariffs, the Chinese steel industry will inevitably be

impacted. CBAM has entered into force in its transitional phase as of October 2023, while the obligation for importers to pay a levy will kick in as of 2027. Six products have been included in the CBAM: cement, iron and steel, aluminum, fertilizers, electricity and hydrogen [86]. In 2022, China's exports to the EU totaled approximately 19.97 billion EUR products covered by CBAM, accounting for about 3.2 % of total EU imports [87]. Steel products account for 76% of the total traded value, followed by aluminum 23% [88], and thus the steel industry will be the most affected one by CBAM [89]. First, China's carbon price, with the average carbon price of 68 RMB/ton (around 9 EUR/ton) in 2023 [90], is far lower than that in EU of 83 EUR/ton [91]. Thus, Chinese companies should pay the carbon price gap to EU. Second, the carbon intensity of China's steel is higher than that of EU. In China, the emissions intensity of BF-BOF steel is approximately 2.1 tonnes CO₂ per tonne steel [25], while that number is 1.9 in EU [92]. If the indirect emissions is included in CBAM in the future, China's export of EAF steel will be hugely impact since China's coal based electricity system have high carbon intensity (0.581 ton/Mwh) that that of EU of 0.244 ton/Mwh [93]. In addition, because of China's lack of effective supervision over energy use in the industrial value chain, leading to accounting data being manipulated easily, the EU is reluctant to recognize China's carbon data and carbon trading based on this data [87]. All the above will affect China and literature have highlight that CBAM will cause negative impacts on China's industry profit in the long term [89, 94]. However, since the specifics of CBAM implementation are still unclear, the actual impact on China's steel industry remains uncertain. In the short term, production reshuffling and export adjustment policies, such as export exemptions or export tax rebates, could serve as potential measures for China to mitigate the impact of CBAM [95].

In addition to carbon tariffs, **trade policies** are another important geopolitical factor influencing industrial decarbonization. Our research indicates that green HBI trade can accelerate the decarbonization process in the global steel industry. However, the restructuring of industrial chains could lead to job losses in the domestic steel sector, which may generate resistance in China. Furthermore, the uncertainty surrounding **international climate cooperation** presents another challenge. For instance, the U.S. withdrawal from the Paris Agreement, coupled with the China-U.S. trade war, has hindered many climate cooperation projects between the two countries, potentially slowing down China's decarbonization efforts.

Faced with these challenges, China's industrial carbon neutrality seems daunting. However, China has continuously created a green miracle over the past few decades, with the renewable energy and electric vehicle industries serving as examples. China is the world's largest country in terms of installed renewable energy capacity, accounting for one third of the global total in 2023 [96]. Large-scale development has driven significant reductions in wind and solar power costs. Moreover, China is the world's largest electric vehicle makers. Chinese carmakers produced more than half of all electric cars sold worldwide in 2023. Moreover, China also consumed 60%

of the world's electric vehicles. Intense competition has driven down costs: over 60% of electric cars sold in China were already cheaper than their average internal combustion engine counterparts, whereas in Europe and the United States, electric cars remained 10% to 50% more expensive [97]. China's industrial policies can learn from the success of these two industries to promote the industrial decarbonization. For example, the steel and petrochemical industries could adopt fiscal subsidy policies, similar to those used in the early stages of electric vehicle promotion, to lower the initial costs of green technologies. They could also draw on mechanisms like the Renewable Portfolio Standard from the renewable energy sector to create stable market demand. Whether such a green miracle can be replicated remains uncertain, yet it represents a prospect China should realize.

Given China's position as the world's largest carbon emitter, the second-largest economy, and a key player in the Global South, its future industrial decarbonization efforts will have far-reaching implications for other countries and the global economy. China's strong economic and military power, its historical experiences with colonialism, and its past economic struggles have collectively shaped a shared "anti-imperialism" narrative with other developing countries, strengthening its role as a climate leader in the Global South in both soft and hard power dimensions [98]. Despite controversies surrounding the Belt and Road Initiative and South-South cooperation, such as the construction of new coal-fired power plants in the past, China has increasingly facilitated the dissemination of renewable energy, with most green Belt and Road Initiative projects focusing on renewables now. In parallel, China's economic development and technological progress offer a model for other developing countries. A critical question remains whether China can replicate its decarbonization strategies in the industrial sector and extend them to other countries. The success of such efforts will shape the trajectory of global industrial emissions and how China navigates this transition will be crucial in determining the balance between economic growth and environmental responsibility in emerging economies.

6. Conclusions

Industry accounted for 24% of global direct greenhouse gas emissions, rising to 34% when including indirect emissions in 2019. Deep decarbonization of industry is thus essential to achieving the Paris Agreement targets. As the world's largest carbon emitter, China committed in 2020 to achieving carbon neutrality by 2060. Given that China's industrial CO₂ emissions account for 12% of the global total, decarbonizing its industrial sector is not only crucial for its own carbon neutrality goal but also for global climate efforts. However, industrial decarbonization faces economic, technological, and political challenges, necessitating a thorough examination of mitigation pathways, key technological and cost barriers, and the policy support required. This thesis investigates the decarbonization pathways and policies for China's steel and petrochemical industries. The first three articles employ optimization models to explore carbon neutrality pathways in China's steel and ethylene sectors, while the fourth assesses whether China's green industrial policies are sufficient to enable deep decarbonization. The key findings and conclusions of this thesis are as follows.

- (1) Papers I to III examine potential decarbonization pathways for the steel and ethylene industries in China. From a techno-economic perspective, carbon neutrality in these sectors is achievable in China by 2060 under all examined scenarios and pathways, and even potentially by 2050. However, beyond technological breakthroughs, achieving full decarbonization requires systemic support. Key enablers include, but are not limited to, efficient scrap steel and plastic collection systems (Papers I and II), rapid power grid decarbonization (Paper III), large-scale low-cost hydrogen production (Papers II and III), national and international trade in scrap and HBI (Papers I and III), and a well-functioning carbon market (Paper II). Effective and well-coordinated policies are essential to address these systemic barriers. While China's green industrial policies have begun to take shape, they remain insufficient to fully achieve carbon neutrality, necessitating further policy reinforcement (Paper IV).
- (2) Although China's steel and ethylene industries can achieve carbon neutrality by 2060, cumulative carbon emissions vary significantly across different scenarios. In cost-minimization scenarios, cost differences remain relatively small, whereas cumulative emissions exhibit substantial variation. Specifically, in *Paper II*, the costs range from 4687 to 5751 trillion RMB (670 to 822 trillion USD) across the four scenarios, a variation of approximately 23%, while

cumulative carbon emissions from 2021 to 2060 differ significantly, ranging from 4.3 Gt to 7.8 Gt, representing a variation of about 81%. In *Paper III*, the costs for eight Asian jurisdictions over 48 years range from 5.6 to 5.8 trillion RMB (800-829 billion USD), with a variation of 3.6%, while CO_2 emissions vary between 19 Gt and 26 Gt, a variation of approximately 37%. Therefore, existing policy targets should not only specify the timeline for carbon neutrality but also establish clear carbon emission caps.

(3) The steel and petrochemical industries face distinct challenges in achieving deep decarbonization and carbon neutrality. In addition to technological challenges such as the availability and cost of green hydrogen and CCUS, which are critical for deep decarbonization, China's steel industry also grapples with overcapacity, short-term scrap shortages, geopolitical issues (e.g., industrial chain restructuring and potential job losses due to HBI trade), and trade frictions that may arise from the CBAM. In contrast, the decarbonization of the petrochemical industry faces not only challenges related to hydrogen and CCUS but also energy security concerns, particularly regarding coal-based chemical production. Moreover, growing demand in the sector may further drive emissions in the future. Overall, the steel industry is more advanced in the development of green industrial policies and corporate action compared to the petrochemical sector.

References

[1] UN. The Paris Agreement.<u>https://www.un.org/zh/climatechange/paris-agreement</u>. (accessed 2025).

[2] IEA CO2 Emissions in 2023: A new record high, but is there light at the end of the tunnel? . 2024.<u>https://www.iea.org/reports/co2-emissions-in-2023</u>.

[3] IEA An energy sector roadmap to carbon neutrality in China. 2021.<u>https://www.iea.org/reports/an-energy-sector-roadmap-to-carbon-neutrality-in-china</u>.

[4] Transparency C CLIMATE TRANSPARENCY REPORT: COMPARING G20 CLIMATE ACTION TOWARDS NET ZERO. 2021.<u>https://www.climate-transparency.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/CT2021China.pdf</u>.

[5] Sandalow D, Meidan M, Andrews-Speed P, Hove A, Qiu S, Downie E. Guide to Chinese Climate Policy 20222022.

[6] Summary for Policymakers. In: Change Intergovernmental Panel on Climate, editor. Climate Change 2022 - Mitigation of Climate Change: Working Group III Contribution to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2023. p. 3-48.

[7] IEA CO2 Emissions in 2023: A new record high, but is there light at the end of the tunnel? 2023.<u>https://www.iea.org/reports/co2-emissions-in-2023</u>.

[8] Åhman M, Nilsson LJ, Johansson B. Global climate policy and deep decarbonization of energy-intensive industries. Climate Policy. 2017;17:634-49.

[9] Bataille CG. Physical and policy pathways to net - zero emissions industry. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change. 2020;11:e633.

[10] Åhman M. Unlocking the "Hard to Abate" Sectors. World Resources Institute. 2022.

[11] China Energy Media Research Institute China Energy Big Data Report 2024. 2024.<u>https://www.ditan.com/static/upload/file/20240807/1722999594947998.pdf</u>.

[12] National Bureau of Statistics. National data.<u>https://data.stats.gov.cn/search.htm?s=%E5%B7%A5%E4%B8%9A%E5%A2%9E%</u>E5%8A%A0%E5%80%BC%EF%BC%8C2001 (accessed 2025).

[13] CarbonBrief. The Carbon Brief Profile: China.<u>https://interactive.carbonbrief.org/the-</u> carbon-brief-profile-china/index.html#politics. (accessed 2025).

[14] Wesseling JH, Lechtenböhmer S, Åhman M, Nilsson LJ, Worrell E, Coenen L. The transition of energy intensive processing industries towards deep decarbonization: Characteristics and implications for future research. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. 2017;79:1303-13.

[15] Rissman J, Bataille C, Masanet E, Aden N, Morrow III WR, Zhou N, et al. Technologies and policies to decarbonize global industry: Review and assessment of mitigation drivers through 2070. Applied energy. 2020;266:114848.

[16] Nurdiawati A, Urban F. Towards deep decarbonisation of energy-intensive industries: A review of current status, technologies and policies. Energies. 2021;14:2408.

[17] Schneider C. Interaction between defossilisation of basic industries and relocation Scenario-based explorative and normative transition pathways to electrification for European basic industries and specific clusters. Lund: Lund University; 2024.

[18] World Steel Association World Steel in Figures 2024. 2025.<u>https://worldsteel.org/data/world-steel-in-figures-2024/</u>.

[19] Jiang M, Cao Y, Liu C, Chen D, Zhou W, Wen Q, et al. Tracing fossil-based plastics, chemicals and fertilizers production in China. Nature Communications. 2024;15:3854.

[20] Li Z, Åhman M, Nilsson LJ, Bauer F. Towards carbon neutrality: Transition pathways for the Chinese ethylene industry. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. 2024;199:114540.

[21] Ren M, Lu P, Liu X, Hossain M, Fang Y, Hanaoka T, et al. Decarbonizing China's iron and steel industry from the supply and demand sides for carbon neutrality. Applied Energy. 2021;298:117209.

[22] China Iron and Steel Association China Steel Industry Statistic Yearbook 2022. 2023

[23] Li Z, Andersson FN, Nilsson LJ, Åhman M. Steel decarbonization in China–a top-down optimization model for exploring the first steps. Journal of Cleaner Production. 2023;384:135550.

[24] IEA Iron and Steel Technology Roadmap. 2020.<u>https://www.iea.org/reports/iron-and-steel-technology-roadmap</u>.

[25] GEM In China, a small boost to low-emissions steelmaking can mean big cuts to its carbon footprint. 2024.<u>https://globalenergymonitor.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/03/GEM-China-steel-brief-March-2024.pdf</u>.

[26] China Steel Research Group Corporation Study on the role of scrap steel in advancing the electric arc furnace segment of the steel industry. 2024

[27]IEAEnergyTechnologyPerspectives2020.2020.https://iea.blob.core.windows.net/assets/7f8aed40-89af-4348-be19-

c8a67df0b9ea/Energy_Technology_Perspectives_2020_PDF.pdf.

[28] RMI Financial-Driven Low-Carbon Transition in Heavy Industry. 2023.<u>https://rmi.org.cn/wp-</u>

content/uploads/2023/12/231205-%E9%87%91%E8%9E%8D%E9%A9%B1%E5%8A%

A8%E9%87%8D%E5%B7%A5%E4%B8%9A%E8%A1%8C%E4%B8%9A%E4%BD%8 E%E7%A2%B3%E8%BD%AC%E5%9E%8B12.04_final.pdf.

[29] Leadit. Green Steel Tracker. 2025. <u>https://www.industrytransition.org/green-steel-tracker/</u>.

[30] Li Z, Åhman M, Algers J, Nilsson LJ. Decarbonizing the Asian steel industries through green Hot Briquetted Iron trade. Resources, Conservation and Recycling. 2025;219:108275.
[31] Institute for Energy Economics and Financial Analysis Australia Faces Growing Green Iron Competition From Overseas. 2023. <u>https://ieefa.org/sites/default/files/2023-08/Australia%20faces%20growing%20green%20iron%20competition%20from%20overse as_Sep23.pdf.</u>

[32] Guidance on Promoting High-quality Development of Iron and Steel Industry. 2022.<u>https://www.gov.cn/zhengce/zhengceku/2022-02/08/content_5672513.htm</u>.

[33] Climate Action Tracker. Policies and action. 2024. https://climateactiontracker.org/countries/china/policies-action/.

[34] Andrews-Speed P. The governance of energy in China: Transition to a low-carbon economy: Springer; 2012.

[35] Moretz T. An assessment of China's ability to regulate its iron and steel industries. Journal of Chinese Governance. 2018;3:101-21.

[36] Yu H. The ascendency of state-owned enterprises in China: Development, controversy and problems. Journal of Contemporary China. 2014;23:161-82.

[37] Li X, Pattberg P, Widerberg O. China's climate governance from 2009 to 2019: motivations, instruments, actors, and geopolitics. Climate Policy. 2024;24:378-95.

[38] IEA The Future of Petrochemicals: Towards more sustainable plastics and fertilisers. 2018.<u>https://iea.blob.core.windows.net/assets/bee4ef3a-8876-4566-98cf-</u>

7a130c013805/The_Future_of_Petrochemicals.pdf

[39] RMI Transforming China's Chemicals Industry: Pathways and Outlook under the Carbon Neutrality Goal. 2022.<u>https://rmi.org/wp-content/uploads/dlm_uploads/2022/04/transforming_china_chemical_industry_executive_s_ummary.pdf</u>.

[40] IEA Ammonia Technology Roadmap: Towards more sustainable nitrogen fertiliser production. 2021.<u>https://iea.blob.core.windows.net/assets/6ee41bb9-8e81-4b64-8701-</u>2acc064ff6e4/AmmoniaTechnologyRoadmap.pdf.

[41] Methanol Institute METHANOL FUEL IN CHINA 2020. 2021.<u>https://www.methanol.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/China-Methanol-Fuel-</u> Report-2020_final-1.pdf.

[42] China chemical news. China's ethylene production surpass the United States to become the largest in the world.<u>https://www.chemnews.com.cn/c/2023-01-06/709137.shtml</u>. (accessed 2025).

[43] Investment Promotion Agency China Chemical Industry Cross-Border CooperationDevelopmentReport2023.

2023.https://fdi.mofcom.gov.cn/resource/pdf/2023/10/31/60859206b0a94e66b6a980479ed f0a76.pdf.

[44] Bauer F, Kulionis V, Oberschelp C, Pfister S, Tilsted JP, Finkill GD, et al. Petrochemicals and Climate Change—Tracing Globally Growing Emissions and Key Blind Spots in a Fossil-Based Industry. 2022.<u>https://lucris.lub.lu.se/ws/portalfiles/portal/117494791/Petrochemicals_climate_chan</u> ge review web.pdf.

[45] Dialogue Earth. Analysis: China's coal-to-chemicals growth risks climate goals.<u>https://dialogue.earth/en/business/analysis-chinas-coal-to-chemicals-growth-risks-</u>climate-goals/. (accessed 2025).

[46] Saygin D, Gielen D. Zero-emission pathway for the global chemical and petrochemical sector. Energies. 2021;14:3772.

[47] China Chemical News Network. China's methanol production capacity increased by 6.455Mt.<u>http://m.ccin.com.cn/#/news/detail?id=345510&type=news</u>. (accessed 2025).

[48] QHRH. Analysis of the Current Status and Development Trends of the Domestic Ammonia Industry.<u>http://www.qhrb.com.cn/articles/323393</u>. (accessed 2024).

[49] China Energy News. China's Coal Chemical Industry Development Accelerates.<u>http://paper.people.com.cn/zgnyb/html/2024-03/18/content_26048572.htm</u>. (accessed 2025).

[50] Orient Securities How significant is the carbon emission pressure in the chemical industry? 2021.<u>https://pdf.dfcfw.com/pdf/H3_AP202103221474638930_1.pdf</u>

[51] Xie K, Li W, Zhao W. Coal chemical industry and its sustainable development in China. Energy. 2010;35:4349-55.

[52] Xu X, Liu Y, Zhang F, Di W, Zhang Y. Clean coal technologies in China based on methanol platform. Catalysis Today. 2017;298:61-8.

[53] Leung GC. China's energy security: Perception and reality. Energy Policy. 2011;39:1330-7.

[54] Wu K. China' s energy security: Oil and gas. Energy Policy. 2014;73:4-11.

[55] Daojiong Z. China's energy security: Domestic and international issues. Survival. 2006;48:179-90.

[56] EMAGE. The List of the Top 30 Chemical Parks in China for 2023.<u>https://resource.emagecompany.com/chemistry/2023chemicalpark30.html</u>. (accessed 2025).

[57] Sina. Progress of the Seven Major Petrochemical Base Projects and New Developments in Other Large Refining Projects.<u>https://finance.sina.com.cn/money/future/roll/2020-09-</u> 14/doc-iivhvpwy6651565.shtml. (accessed 12th January 2025).

[58] Zhang Y, Yuan Z, Margni M, Bulle C, Hua H, Jiang S, et al. Intensive carbon dioxide emission of coal chemical industry in China. Applied Energy. 2019;236:540-50.

[59] Gabrielli P, Rosa L, Gazzani M, Meys R, Bardow A, Mazzotti M, et al. Net-zero emissions chemical industry in a world of limited resources. One Earth. 2023;6:682-704.

[60] The Carbon Peaking Implementation Plan for the Petrochemical and Chemical IndustryinFujianProvince.

2024. https://gxt.fujian.gov.cn/jdhy/zcjd/bmzcwjjd/202403/t20240327_6420228.htm.

[61] Implementation Plan for Carbon Peaking in the Industrial Sector and Key Industries of Jiangsu Province. 2023.<u>https://gxt.jiangsu.gov.cn/art/2023/1/17/art_6278_10729235.html</u>.

[62] Huang Y, Yi Q, Kang J-X, Zhang Y-G, Li W-Y, Feng J, et al. Investigation and optimization analysis on deployment of China coal chemical industry under carbon emission constraints. Applied energy. 2019;254:113684.

[63] Li J, Hu S. History and future of the coal and coal chemical industry in China. Resources, Conservation and Recycling. 2017;124:13-24.

[64] Guiding Opinions on Promoting High-Quality Development of the Petrochemical and Chemical Industry during the 14th Five-Year Plan Period. 2022.<u>https://www.gov.cn/zhengce/zhengceku/2022-04/08/content_5683972.htm</u>.

[65] Pfenninger S, Hawkes A, Keirstead J. Energy systems modeling for twenty-first century energy challenges. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. 2014;33:74-86.

[66] Plazas-Niño F, Ortiz-Pimiento N, Montes-Páez E. National energy system optimization modelling for decarbonization pathways analysis: A systematic literature review. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. 2022;162:112406.

[67] Spittler N, Gladkykh G, Diemer A, Davidsdottir B. Understanding the current energy paradigm and energy system models for more sustainable energy system development. Energies. 2019;12:1584.

[68] Maier HR, Guillaume JH, van Delden H, Riddell GA, Haasnoot M, Kwakkel JH. An uncertain future, deep uncertainty, scenarios, robustness and adaptation: How do they fit together? Environmental modelling & software. 2016;81:154-64.

[69] Scheller F, Bruckner T. Energy system optimization at the municipal level: An analysis of modeling approaches and challenges. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. 2019;105:444-61.

[70] Yue X, Pye S, DeCarolis J, Li FG, Rogan F, Gallachóir BÓ. A review of approaches to uncertainty assessment in energy system optimization models. Energy strategy reviews. 2018;21:204-17.

[71] Iyer G, Edmonds J. Interpreting energy scenarios. Nature Energy. 2018;3:357-8.

[72] Walker WE, Haasnoot M, Kwakkel JH. Adapt or perish: A review of planning approaches for adaptation under deep uncertainty. Sustainability. 2013;5:955-79.

[73] Weijermars R, Taylor P, Bahn O, Das SR, Wei Y-M. Review of models and actors in energy mix optimization–can leader visions and decisions align with optimum model strategies for our future energy systems? Energy Strategy Reviews. 2012;1:5-18.

[74] Moss RH, Edmonds JA, Hibbard KA, Manning MR, Rose SK, Van Vuuren DP, et al. The next generation of scenarios for climate change research and assessment. Nature. 2010;463:747-56.

[75] Scheller F, Wald S, Kondziella H, Gunkel PA, Bruckner T, Keles D. Future role and economic benefits of hydrogen and synthetic energy carriers in Germany: a review of long-term energy scenarios. Sustainable Energy Technologies and Assessments. 2023;56:103037.
[76] Börjeson L, Höjer M, Dreborg K-H, Ekvall T, Finnveden G. Scenario types and techniques: towards a user's guide. Futures. 2006;38:723-39.

[77] van Vliet M, Kok K. Combining backcasting and exploratory scenarios to develop robust water strategies in face of uncertain futures. Mitigation and adaptation strategies for global change. 2015;20:43-74.

[78] Jareen S. Public Policy Analysis: A Critical Overview. Bangladesh Journal of Administration and Management. 2018;29:56-69.

[79] Dunn WN. Public policy analysis: routledge; 2015.

[80] Walker WE. Policy analysis: a systematic approach to supporting policymaking in the public sector. Journal of Multi - Criteria Decision Analysis. 2000;9:11-27.

[81] Nilsson LJ, Bauer F, Åhman M, Andersson FN, Bataille C, de la Rue du Can S, et al. An industrial policy framework for transforming energy and emissions intensive industries towards zero emissions. Climate Policy. 2021;21:1053-65.

[82] OECD. Green industrial policies for the net-zero transition.<u>https://www.oecd.org/content/dam/oecd/en/publications/reports/2024/10/green-</u>

industrial-policies-for-the-net-zero-transition_1e066699/ccc326d3-en.pdf. (accessed 2024). [83] Rosenbloom D, Markard J, Geels FW, Fuenfschilling L. Why carbon pricing is not sufficient to mitigate climate change—and how "sustainability transition policy" can help. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2020;117:8664-8.

[84] Bataille C, Åhman M, Neuhoff K, Nilsson LJ, Fischedick M, Lechtenböhmer S, et al. A review of technology and policy deep decarbonization pathway options for making energy-intensive industry production consistent with the Paris Agreement. Journal of Cleaner Production. 2018;187:960-73.

[85] Pizer WA, Zhang X. China's New National Carbon Market. AEA Papers and Proceedings. 2018;108:463–67. 10.1257/pandp.20181029.

[86] Carbon Border Adjustment Mechanism. 2024.<u>https://taxation-</u> customs.ec.europa.eu/carbon-border-adjustment-mechanism_en.

[87] Chang J. Implementation of the EU carbon border adjustment mechanism and China's policy and legal responses. Environmental Impact Assessment Review. 2025;110:107683.

[88] Oil Business News. The Impact of the EU Carbon Border Tax on China's Export Trade.<u>https://www.sohu.com/a/774262712_158724</u>. (accessed 2025).

[89] Zhao L-T, Chen Z-Y, Duan Y-X, Qiu R-X. How will CBAM affect the decarbonisation of steel industry in China? A system dynamics approach. International Journal of Production Research. 2024;62:6859-80.

[90] Zhang J, Song Z, Nedopil C China Green Finance Status and Trends 2023-2024. 2024. <u>https://research-repository.griffith.edu.au/server/api/core/bitstreams/84ec6e3c-b485-</u>4713-8827-8b45188d9697/content.

[91] International Carbon Action Partnership. EU Emissions Trading System (EU ETS).<u>https://icapcarbonaction.com/en/ets/eu-emissions-trading-system-eu-ets</u>. (accessed 2024).

[92] European Parliamentary Carbon-free steel production: Cost reduction options and usage of existing gas infrastructure.

2021.<u>https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/STUD/2021/690008/EPRS_STU(20</u> 21)690008_EN.pdf

[93] EMBER. The EU accelerates its electricity transition in the wake of the energy crisis.<u>https://ember-energy.org/countries-and-regions/european-union/</u>. (accessed 2025).

[94] Li W, Liu X, Lu C. Analysis of China's steel response ways to EU CBAM policy based on embodied carbon intensity prediction. Energy. 2023;282:128812.

[95] Adelphi EU Carbon Border Adjustment Mechanism and China. 2021.<u>https://www.3e.tsinghua.edu.cn/storage/app/media/uploaded-</u>

 files/download/%E6%AC%A7%E7%9B%9F%E7%A2%B3%E8%BE%B9%E5%A2%83

 %E8%B0%83%E8%8A%82%E6%9C%BA%E5%88%B6%E4%B8%8E%E4%B8%AD%

 E5%9B%BD_%E6%94%BF%E7%AD%96%E8%AE%BE%E8%AE%A1%E9%80%89%

<u>E6%8B%A9_%E6%BD%9C%E5%9C%A8%E5%BA%94%E5%AF%B9%E6%8E%AA</u> %E6%96%BD%E5%8F%8A%E5%8F%AF%E8%83%BD%E5%BD%B1%E5%93%8D.

<u>pdf</u>.

[96] iGDP. Model Analysis: How Many Times Could China's Renewable Energy Capacity Increase by

2030?<u>https://www.igdp.cn/%E6%A8%A1%E5%9E%8B%E5%88%86%E6%9E%90%EF</u>%BC%9A-

<u>2030%E5%B9%B4%E4%B8%AD%E5%9B%BD%E5%8F%AF%E5%86%8D%E7%94</u> <u>%9F%E8%83%BD%E6%BA%90%E8%A3%85%E6%9C%BA%E5%8F%AF%E8%83%</u>BD%E5%A2%9E%E5%87%A0%E5%80%8D%EF%BC%9F/. (accessed 2025).

[97] IEA Global EV Outlook 2024: Moving towards increased affordability. 2024.<u>https://www.iea.org/reports/global-ev-outlook-2024/executive-summary</u>.

[98] Qi JJ, Dauvergne P. China's rising influence on climate governance: Forging a path for the global South. Global Environmental Change. 2022;73:102484.

Towards carbon neutraliy

The decarbonization of the steel and petrochemical industries represents a critical step toward achieving global climate goals. As major contributors to industrial emissions, these sectors offer substantial potential for deep emission reductions through technological innovation, supportive policies, and coordina-

ted international action. In 2020, China announced its goal of achieving carbon neutrality by 2060. Given the scale and huge emissions of its steel and petrochemical industries, decarbonizing these sectors is essential not only for fulfilling China's climate commitments but also for advancing global climate governance. This thesis investigates potential decarbonization pathways for these two sectors in China and emphasizes the key policy measures required to support their low-carbon transition.





Faculty of Engineering Department of Technology and Society Division of Environmental and Energy Systems Studies

> ISBN 978-91-8104-459-1 ISSN 1102-3651 ISRN: LUTFD2/TFEM--25/1050--SE + (1-171)

